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ABOUT THE AUTHOR


Paul Gorry has had a life long interest in local and family history. He was born in Baltinglass in 1959 and grew up in the town, attending St Pius X National School and Baltinglass Post Primary School (now Scoil Chonglais). He has been engaged professionally in genealogical research since 1979. He was joint-author of Tracing Irish Ancestors (Glasgow: HarperCollins, 1997) with Máire Mac Conghail. He also wrote Baltinglass Golf Club 1928-2003. He was a founder member of the West Wicklow Historical Society in 1980, of the Association of Professional Genealogists in Ireland in 1986, and of the Irish Genealogical Congress in 1989. In 1999 he was elected a Fellow of the Society of Genealogists (London) and in 2005 a Fellow of the Irish Genealogical Research Society.




INTRODUCTION


When I was about ten or eleven, and already addicted to history, Canon Chavasse published his The Story of Baltinglass. To my mind he had written all there was to know about the town’s history. It was only when I got older and learned more about Baltinglass’s past that I realised that no one book could ever encapsulate all there was to know about Baltinglass in the past. In the 1980s various contributors to the Journal of the West Wicklow Historical Society added to the body of published material on the town, yet I never seriously thought of writing a book bringing together what I knew on the subject.


This book grew out of a relatively small idea. It was going to be one of those ‘millennium’ projects that were being germinated a few years ago. Originally I was going to compile a street directory of Baltinglass as of 1 January 2001. It was to be a record, a sort of ‘snap shot’, of the town on the first day of the twenty-first century (the true beginning of the new millennium; not the premature one expensively celebrated all over the world twelve months earlier). While toying with the idea and deciding how to go about it, I decided that, using the 1901 Census and the Valuation Office revision books, it would be possible to do a similar reconstruction of Baltinglass a century earlier. Then Noel Farrell suggested that I use the Electoral Lists and the revision books to reconstruct 1951. As Griffith’s Primary Valuation was published for the area in 1854 and the earlier Valuation Office house books were also available, I decided to add 1851 to the project.


It occurred to me that the four street directories alone would be of limited interest. Then in 2000, when the Kosovars were to leave Rathcoran House and I thought that maybe they would all be gone from Baltinglass before 1 January 2001, I thought of how much change occurred between each of the directories and how many recent events would one day be remote history to younger generations. It was this line of thinking that made me ‘fill in’ the years between the four directories and the small project developed into chronicles of 150 years of the town’s history.


The geographical area to be covered in the directories was chosen arbitrarily, based on my perception of what constituted Baltinglass town in terms of ribbon development by 2001, but covering whole townlands. It could be argued that Carrigeen has as much right as other areas to be regarded as part of the sprawling Baltinglass of 2001, but I made a conscious decision not to go beyond the Wicklow border. Including Carrigeen would have added greatly to the workload.


When committing the directories to paper I became aware that it would be difficult, if not impossible, to indicate exact locations by recording houses outside the town itself by townland. For that reason, where practicable, houses were listed by road, with the relevant townlands also indicated. I took a certain amount of licence when naming these roads, and I am sure that some people will take exception to my decisions. For instance, in the case of the road leading from Tuckmill Cross to the gates of Kilranelagh House, I called it the Kilranelagh Road, while other people may refer to it differently. On the other hand, where there are old names, such as Colemans’ Road, which may not be familiar to everyone today, I used these.


The official spellings of townland names are often at variance with the spellings used locally (e.g. Clogh and Clough) so I kept with the official spelling, while noting the local spellings in brackets. There is considerable confusion locally about the boundaries of townlands in the immediate area of the town. In particular, Bawnoge (locally Bawnoges) has stretched in the popular imagination as far north as the top of Belan Street and is now wandering out the Rathmoon Road. Within the town itself there seems to be uncertainty as to where streets begin and end. In relation to the division between Main Street and Weavers’ Square I take the precedent established by Griffith’s Valuation as the only logical one to follow. As for the imaginary lines I drew between Chapel Hill and the Sruhaun Road and between Edward Street and the Carlow Road, I make no apologies for my arbitrary decisions. Griffith’s Valuation has the town boundary at about the site of the present Bramble Court, so Chapel Hill never went beyond that point. On the other hand, Griffith’s Valuation listed the last few houses in Edward Street separately under Bawnoge townland. I placed them under Edward Street because that is the logical place for them.


Reference will be found in the text to the Turtle Ms. and the Kinsella Ms. The former was written in 1940 by Joseph Turtle and it contained a wealth of information on the town during and before his residence in Baltinglass. I was given access to it by his great-grandson in the 1980s and took brief notes. Sadly the original disappeared shortly afterwards. The Kinsella Ms. was compiled by Rev. Edward Kinsella while he was a curate in Baltinglass (1936-1942). It is a mixture of material from printed sources and oral tradition. It includes a number of letters from Tom Doran, who was then an old man and who was highly regarded as a custodian of oral tradition. I am indebted to Joseph Turtle, Father Kinsella and Tom Doran, none of whom I ever met, for preserving some of the information I used in this book.




ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS


I am indebted to many people for help in compiling this book, whether for providing advice, information or practical assistance. I am particularly grateful to Shauna and Liz Bradley, Billy Doody, Paddy and Josephine Dunne, P.J. Hanlon, Sister Josepha O’Donnell and Kathleen Wall for providing substantial information. Cyril McIntyre (Bus Éireann public relations office) gave me valuable information from his personal collection on bus routes. The late Tommy Doyle of the Lough supplied information long before this book was even contemplated. Noel Farrell put great work into the 1851 and 1901 maps of Baltinglass. Majella (Harbourne) Murphy did a huge amount of work on the survey for the 2001 street directory, and I really appreciate the co-operation of all who responded to that survey.
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The following individuals helped me in various ways: Christy Alcock, Dermot Allen, Anne Aspill, the late Davey Bradley, Kathleen (Mackey) Byrne, Margaret (Mrs. Stephen) Byrne, Pat Byrne (Scoil Chonglais), Culm Carty, Owen Cooney, Cora Crampton, Madge Crampton, the late Maureen Darcy, Marcus de Burca (GAA historian), Piers Dennis, Brigid Dooley (Chapel Hill), Mary (Powell) Doyle, the late Seamie Doyle (Irongrange), Tommy Doyle (Main Street), Mihail Evans, John Farrar, the late John Farrell (Yellowford), Steven ffeary-Smyrl, Vera Finlay, Phyllis Flanagan, Kathleen (Hanrahan) Gahan, Sister Rose Gargan, Nigel Gillis, the late Frank Glynn, Nan Glynn, Mary Gorry, Pat Gorry, the Groves family, Dave Hallahan, Kathleen Hanlon, Tom Hannafin, Tess Healy, Ceddy Hendy, Frank Hunt, Basil Jach, the late Colette Johnston, P.J. Kavanagh, Dan Kehoe (Weavers’ Square), Frances Kenny, Johnny Kenny (Clough), Bill Lawlor (Bawnoges Road), the late Eileen Lynch, Maria McCormack, Anne, Emer and Freddie McDaid, Donal McDonnell, Father P.J. McDonnell, John McGrath (former Baltinglass N.S. teacher), Pat (Harbourne) McGrath, Maureen (Nolan) Molloy, Fergal Morrin, Jimmy Murray, Nicky Mustafa, Pam (Flood) Nolan, Kevin O’Brien, my colleague Eileen O’Byrne, Nuala O’Connell, Michael O’Keeffe, Peter O’Kelly and Rhona O’Kelly Loughman, Breeda O’Neill, Orla O’Sullivan, Ann Patterson, Fran Quaid, Joe Rattigan, Nuala Rogers, Father Padraig Shelley, Cora Shortt, June Snell, Dorothy Stephenson, the late Willie Sutton, the Timmins family, Mary Wade, and my friends in the West Wicklow Historical Society.




BALTINGLASS IN 1851


Less than fifty years before the starting point of these chronicles, Michael Dwyer was still roaming the Wicklow mountains. The events of the 1798 and 1803 rebellions were still in living memory. People in their sixties in 1851 would have been children during that turbulent period. Middle-aged adults would have remembered Napoleon’s defeat at Waterloo, Catholic emancipation and the Tithe War. Even teenage children would have remembered the night of the Big Wind and Daniel O’Connell’s Monster Meetings, one of which was held at Baltinglass just eight years before, in August 1843. However, in 1851, life throughout Ireland was overshadowed by the effects of the Famine which had begun in 1845. The country was just beginning to recover from its darkest hour in recent history.


The most prominent Baltinglass citizen at the time was in fact an eccentric semi-recluse. He lived alone on the outskirts of the town making plans to build a hot air balloon. He was the forty-two year old Benjamin O’Neale Stratford, sixth (and, as it transpired, last) Earl of Aldborough, whose family had owned the town and much of the surrounding area for generations, but whose fortunes were on the decline.


Local government in 1851 was very much local. On a county level the Grand Jury, an appointed committee drawn from the gentry, had the responsibility of building and maintaining such facilities as roads, bridges, courthouses and gaols. Their revenue was generated by the collection of a county cess. Relief of the poor was the responsibility of the Guardians of Baltinglass Poor Law Union, a body partly elected by the ratepayers within the union. Their revenue was generated by the collection of the poor rates. Administration of justice on the most basic level was handled locally by magistrates (or Justices of the Peace) sitting fortnightly in Petty Sessions and four times a year in Quarter Sessions. As there was a Resident Magistrate in Baltinglass in 1851, he would have taken on himself many of the functions of the local magistrates. More serious crimes were handled at the twice yearly Assizes, presided over by a judge on circuit.


In 1851 Baltinglass had a courthouse, a gaol (or bridewell), a constabulary station, a small hospital (or infirmary) and, as the centre of a poor law union, a workhouse. At the time Wicklow was unique in having two county infirmaries, and that in Baltinglass was one of them. There were Roman Catholic, Church of Ireland and Wesleyan Methodist places of worship, with the new Roman Catholic church under construction. There were three schools, Stratford Lodge School, attended by Protestant boys and girls, with a section for infants, Baltinglass National School, attended by Catholic boys and girls, and a school in the Workhouse for children of inmates.


Public transport was provided by the Royal Mail coach, travelling between Dublin and Kilkenny, and a caravan connecting Dublin with Tullow. The following passage gives some idea of what it was like to travel by the mail coach. It was written by a lady from a privileged background recalling visits she made to Belan as a girl, possibly in the late 1830s. Her journey would have taken her through Naas and Kilcullen, but the departure to Baltinglass would have been similar:




A lovely summer morning was chosen for our start, my father took my beautiful sister and myself into Dublin to the coach office, in the yard of which stood the bright red mail-coach; its coachman of many capes; its guard, his horn strapped round his shoulder lying on his breast; its four prancing horses led from their stables by cheery, though ragged, ostlers; the passengers squabbling for the best seats, and mounting to the top by a ladder; our guesses as to which of them were coming inside, or if we were to have the luxury of having it all to ourselves; my father tipping the coachman and guard, and begging them to look after us … The guard lifting us in and banging the door; the coachman mounting his box and gathering up his reins; the guard standing up behind, horn in hand; the horses shaking their heads free from the ostlers; our last wave of the hand to father; a loud crack from the coachman’s whip; a shrill blast from the guard’s horn; and off we started at a tremendous pace through the gateway and streets till we came to the open country.1





Writing of Rathvilly in the 1860s, Edward O’Toole describes an insular atmosphere, having little contact with the outside world. Mail was brought by the postman each day from Baltinglass, along with the only daily newspaper, the Freeman’s Journal. As this Dublin paper arrived in Baltinglass on the mail coach in the afternoon, it was a day old by the time it reached Rathvilly. When Edward O’Toole made his first visit to Dublin, in 1875, he went to Baltinglass to take the long car operated by Anthony O’Neill of North Strand, Dublin. The long car was the Bianconi invention that had two rows of open air seats, arranged back to back with the passengers facing sideways. The four horses drawing the car were changed three times on the six hour journey between Baltinglass and Dublin. It appears that at that time no coach, as described in the extract above, operated on the route as, according to O’Toole, the long car was later succeeded by a mail coach.2


Markets were held on Fridays, and fairs were held on 2 February, 17 March, 12 May, 1 July, 12 September and 8 December. As the names imply, these were held in Market Square and the Fair Green. It is unclear whether the savings bank was still in operation by 1851, but it is certain that there was one as little as five years earlier. There was not much industry in the town, with the two bleach greens having closed in recent years. One had been near the river in Lathaleere (close to what is now the Fourth Avenue of Parkmore). The other had been north of the Ballytore Road (now covered by Quinns’ Super Store and yard), with an entrance off the Dublin Road opposite the horse pond. There were, however, two mills, that in Mill Street operated by Robert H. Anderson and that at Tuckmill, owned and operated by Robert F. Saunders.


The only significant physical change to Baltinglass in the decade before 1851 was the building of two new roads. One was what was termed the ‘Ballytore Road’ in Griffith’s Primary Valuation and the other became known locally as ‘Colemans’ Road’. The Ballytore Road linked the existing road to Ballytore, the ‘Tinoran Road’ with Mill Street, coming out at the side of the Methodist Church. Up to then people travelling towards Ballytore went up Cuckoo Lane (or Belan Street) and down what is now called the Brook Lane. Presumably the reason for the construction of this new link road was to avoid the steep hill on Cuckoo Lane. The street created by this initiative gave Baltinglass less of the appearance of an elaborate crossroads and within eight years there were six small houses lining it. However, it was to be short lived, as just over forty years after its construction it was to be dissected with the coming of the railway. Colemans’ Road, so called as it crossed the Coleman family’s farm in Rampere, was built about the same time. It linked the Dublin Road with Rampere Cross, in the process converting the latter into the ‘Five Crossroads’. The obvious reason for its construction was the avoidance of the very steep incline on what is termed in this publication the ‘Raheen Hill Road’.


At the beginning of 1851 a topic of conversation in Baltinglass must have been the minor controversy raised late the previous year by Rev. Daniel Lalor, the Parish Priest, when he accused the Board of Guardians of Baltinglass Union of encouraging proselytism. In a letter to the Under Secretary at Dublin Castle, dated 2 October 1850,3 Father Lalor claimed that twenty-six inmates of the workhouse had become Protestant as a result of visits made to the institution by the Misses Saunders of Fortgranite. Ellen and Charlotte Saunders were daughters of Morley Saunders of Saundersgrove and they were evidently fervent Christians. By 1851 they were above middle age, and living at Fortgranite, the home of their brother-in-law, Thomas Stratford Dennis. Their brother, Robert F. Saunders, was then chairman of the Board of Guardians, while Mr. Dennis was deputy vice-chairman. At the time the Dennis family maintained a school on the estate where children received ‘a strictly religious education’.4 From the opening of Baltinglass Workhouse in 1841, the Misses Saunders made weekly visits to read the Bible and give religious instruction to Protestant inmates.


Father Lalor’s letter alleged that they did not confine their instruction to Protestants and that they had lured many away from Catholicism. He also alleged that in more recent times they had been permitted to visit Baltinglass Bridewell for similar purposes. He further stated that workhouse inmates had been allowed to go on excursions to Fortgranite and he referred disparagingly to the ladies’ ‘Proselytizing school’. As a result of the allegations, Charles Crawford, inspector for the Poor Law Commission, carried out an enquiry, interviewing many inmates and staff members. His lengthy report, dated 9 December 1850,5 indicated that conflicting statements had been presented. While he did not find definite evidence for the accusations levelled at the Misses Saunders and some guardians and staff members, it appeared that Rev. Samuel Potter of Stratford, the Church of Ireland chaplain, had very much exceeded his authority in baptising at least one child against its Catholic grandmother’s expressed wishes.


In February 1851 Baltinglass had something new to talk about with the attempted murder of John Jones of Newtownsaunders. Jones was a resident of the area for years, and a prominent member of the Wesleyan Methodist community. In 1833 he was one of two trustees to whom Lord Aldborough granted the lease of the ground in Mill Street on which the Methodists built their chapel.6 He was a land agent to various small landlords in the Baltiboys area7 and by 1851 he was an elderly man. As a matter of purely irrelevant interest, his wife was Mary Disney, a great-great-grandaunt of Walt Disney, the man who transformed his surname into a byword for family entertainment. On Saturday 8 February, Jones was returning home from Donard in his gig. At 4.30pm, while he was passing through Deerpark, a man hiding behind a wall shot at him. Six months prior to this incident Jones had been warned by his land bailiff, James Byrne of Granabeg, that there was a conspiracy to kill him. Byrne again warned him that very day, but at the time he was not aware of the identity of the attacker. Whether Jones was injured in any way, he certainly survived. Within days one Andrew Davis was arrested. He was convicted a few weeks later at the Spring Assizes in Wicklow town and sentenced to ten years transportation.8 By January 1853 John and Mary Jones had left Newtownsaunders, where Sheppard Jones remained, and gone to live in Weavers’ Square, Baltinglass, in the house now owned by O’Sheas.


Later in 1851 two of Father Lalor’s curates were whipping up a political storm over legislation before Parliament. At mass on Sunday 11 May 1851, Rev. Edward Foley in Baltinglass, and Rev. John Nolan in Stratford and Grangecon, encouraged the congregation to sign a petition to the House of Commons against the proposed legislation. Father Nolan supposedly called O’Connell’s 1843 Monster Meeting and presided over it. In later life, as Parish Priest of Killeigh and subsequently Kildare, he played an active role in politics as a champion of tenant farmers9. A detailed account of Father Foley’s sermon survives because Constable Michael Sheehy was attending mass and he reported it to his Head Constable, John Barton.10 Father Foley reportedly said that the proposal was ‘a disgrace to any Government in the world, that for three hundred years there was a Penal-law against the Roman Catholics and that now the Government of England was bringing in another Penal Bill to Exterminate the Roman Catholics altogether, that it was not enough to starve them to Death, but to put them out of the way altogether’. He then advised the congregation to sign the petition that was in the chapel yard, saying ‘every Roman Catholic in Town & Country that can write should sign it, & those who cannot write should put their mark in order to show how much they abhor in their hearts the injustice they are about doing us’.


Father Foley’s words were stirring indeed, but they were also grossly misleading. The legislation before Parliament was far from an attempt to exterminate Roman Catholics. In fact, it had no bearing on the daily lives of the laity. It was the Ecclesiastical Titles Bill and it aimed to prohibit the assumption by Roman Catholic bishops anywhere within the United Kingdom of the titles of their sees. There is little likelihood of Father Foley’s misunderstanding the extent of the proposal, as it was discussed at length in the Freeman’s Journal as much as three months before. The Ecclesiastical Titles Act became law on 1 August 1851, and it merits the importance of a mere footnote in the history of Ireland in the nineteenth century. The priests’ promotion of the petition, and the heated words used in doing so, give some indication of the political activity of the Roman Catholic clergy in Baltinglass in the 1850s. It is interesting to speculate on the bearing this may have had on the level of Land League activity in the area some thirty years later.


AFTERMATH OF THE FAMINE


Little if any folklore of the Famine exists in the area and it is tempting to think that perhaps its effects were minimal in Baltinglass, but statistics and contemporary accounts show that this was not the case. Sufficient material exists for an in-depth study of conditions in the district at the time. However, the scope of the present work does not allow for any such study. A cursory examination of the more accessible records is sufficient to reveal evidence of the severe effects of the catastrophe in the Baltinglass area.


Under the Poor Relief Act of 1838, provision was made for establishing workhouses throughout Ireland, with each workhouse serving an area called a Poor Law Union. Those unable to sustain themselves independently could seek admission to the workhouse of the Union in which they lived but, to discourage the idle, inmates were expected to work for their keep. On 29 May 1840 the contract for construction of Baltinglass Workhouse was made. It was to contain accommodation for 500 paupers. The first admission of paupers was on 28 October 1841.11 It must be remembered that the Workhouse served Baltinglass Poor Law Union (which extended as far north as Hollywood, as far south as Rathdangan, and took in parts of Counties Carlow and Kildare), so only a percentage of those in the Workhouse would have been from the immediate area of the town.


In June 1841 the population of the area being considered in this book (Baltinglass town and the surrounding townlands) was 4,588. That was approximately 12% of the total population of Baltinglass Poor Law Union (38,305). By March 1851 the population of the same area (excluding the Workhouse buildings) was 3,259. At the time there were 1,028 people in Baltinglass Workhouse and its fever hospital. Even allowing for as many as 20% of these people being from the immediate vicinity of the town, there was a drop of almost a quarter of the population of the relevant area between 1841 and 1851.12 However, the fall in population is not an indication of the number of people who died as a direct result of famine. Diseases that attacked the weakened people in the wake of repeated failure of potato crops accounted for many deaths, while others vanished through emigration. The fact that in 1851 Baltinglass Workhouse was accommodating more than twice the 500 it was originally designed to hold is evidence in itself of distress in the area. This is further highlighted when it is considered that ten years later there were only 264 residents in the workhouse buildings.


The original Ordnance Survey town plan of Baltinglass,13 dating from the 1830s, shows a row of buildings extending along the north side of the Rathmoon Road from its junction with the Brook Lane. It also shows buildings along that part of Chapel Hill which now forms the entire eastern boundary wall of the graveyard. By 1851 none of these buildings existed. In 1851 several houses in the town were unoccupied or in ruins. Many of the poorer families were living in what the surveyors for Griffith’s Primary Valuation described as dilapidated houses.


The Famine had its origins in the arrival of potato blight in September 1845. A Relief Commission was appointed in November with the aim of encouraging the establishment of local committees throughout the country. A relief committee was set up in Baltinglass. In March 1846 public works schemes were introduced all over Ireland to provide a source of income for the poor, with the government paying half of the costs. At a meeting of the vestry of Baltinglass Parish on 22 June 1846, it was unanimously agreed to draw out from the savings bank of Baltinglass a sum of £4-5-12, with any interest accruing, and ‘apply it to the fund for the relief of the poor who are employed in public works’.14 Those present were Rev. Dr. William Grogan (the Rector), James Murphy, John Johnson (medical officer of Baltinglass Workhouse), Robert Parke, Benjamin Haynes and George Moorhouse. The sum of money was not large even by the economy of the day, but the decision is evidence that distress was being experienced in the area by that time. The money also appears to represent the only disposable funds the Church of Ireland parish had at hand.15 The building of the new Roman Catholic Church in Baltinglass began about this time and it would have provided work for many labourers during the worst period of the Famine.


In the autumn of 1846 the potato crop was completely lost. Official correspondence over the winter between December 1846 and February 184716 indicates that Baltinglass, no less than other parts of Wicklow, was in crisis. On 16 December 1846 the superintendent engineer for County Wicklow, James Boyle, referred to Baltinglass as ‘… a nucleus for misery and without a resident landlord or agent, and where there are 280 labourers having relief tickets …’ The then Lord Aldborough was the profligate Mason Gerard Stratford, who was living in Italy. His career is outlined below. On 17 January 1847 Boyle wrote that Baltinglass had an inadequate amount of meal for the 700 relief labourers who relied on the town for their food supply. In a comment on the general state of the areas of the county he had visited, he added that in the previous fortnight the number of hucksters (or provision dealers) had decreased through lack of credit, and that ‘as competition diminishes, prices of course rise’.


Daniel McCloy, assistant engineer, in a report to Boyle on the situation in the Baltinglass-Kiltegan-Rathdangan region, dated 20 February 1847, wrote: ‘The labourers and small farmers are in a most awful condition in this district generally, having neither food nor clothes; and many of the middle-class farmers are very badly off, and will have to sell their cows to buy seed and food. The greater part of this district is on the verge of starvation, and not able by any means to till the land’. On 25 February, Boyle himself made some frank comments on the relief labourers based in Baltinglass: ‘I cannot but regard the condition of some parts of the county, especially that of the town of Baltinglass, as extremely critical. There are in it, and within a circle of half a mile around it, 500 men who are employed on Relief Works … They are, generally speaking, a most inflammable community, chiefly consisting of the rejected from other districts and counties, bound by no ties of connexion or character, living on a property where there is neither a resident landlord nor agent. In summer they earn some money by cutting turf, and during the hurry of the harvest; during the remainder of the year, they idle, steal or beg. I cannot contrive two months work for them; with great difficulty can I make out employment for even a week; yet these men fancy they must and will be fed. Nothing could be more dangerous than to leave them to go about unemployed’.


At the time there was a proposal to set up a food distribution centre in Kiltegan, to which the local gentry intended to contribute. This may have been one of the soup kitchens which were opened around the country in that month. Boyle added: ‘I am quite convinced that to establish the proposed private depot of food at Kiltegan (four miles distant) without affording suitable protection, would be but to tempt a foray from the rabble of Baltinglass from one side, and from the wild and starving people of Moyne and Imale on the other’. In February 1847 the famine was at its worst. It is, therefore, very surprising that, though army recruiting parties had been stationed in Baltinglass for many months, Boyle noted that ‘scarcely a man has been induced to enlist’.


With starvation came disease. Dropsy, dysentery, scurvy and typhus attacked the malnourished population. A temporary fever hospital operated in Baltinglass from March 1847 to July 1849, during which time 127 patients died within it, all from fever.17 It would appear that in September 1847 typhus was rampant in the Baltinglass region, as there are reports of three prominent men dying of malignant fever that autumn. One was Rev. John O’Brien, a Roman Catholic curate newly arrived in Baltinglass.18 John Johnson, one of the vestrymen who had voted the donation to the relief fund the previous summer, died on 19 September. As well as being medical officer of Baltinglass Workhouse, he was a surgeon and apothecary long resident in the town, with a premise in Main Street.19 The third man whose death can be attributed to typhus was Rev. John Marchbanks, Church of Ireland minister in Stratford. He died on 21 September. Folklore has it that he gave away his own food to the needy, and his memory is still alive in Stratford.20 The three men were under the age of fifty. Their occupations brought them in close contact with the ill and starving masses. The names of the vast majority of those unfortunate people who succumbed to typhus during that outbreak are lost to posterity.


Of the people lost to Ireland during the Famine, the lucky ones were those who managed to emigrate. A ship was the one beacon of hope for people with the means to leave. Others were sent overseas. Again, one can only guess at how many Baltinglass inhabitants left Ireland and settled in Great Britain, North America or Australia during those terrible years. One group of whom something is known are fifteen girls from the general area of Baltinglass who were among a party of ‘orphans’ sent to New South Wales in 1849. They were aged between fourteen and twenty, and in most cases both their parents were dead. The girls were Mary A. Dempsey, Mary Dowling, Bridget Doyle, Sarah Fegan, Eliza Icombe, Margaret Keys, Elizabeth Nolan and Judith Nolan from Baltinglass, Mary Duff from Hollywood,21 Ann and Ellen Hanbidge from Stratford, Mary Lalor from Rathvilly, Ann Moran from Kiltegan, Celia Moran from ‘Kiltort’, and Eliza Wilden from Coolamadra. Eliza Icombe was one of the inmates of the workhouse mentioned in the evidence in Crawford’s report on the enquiry on proselytising. These fifteen girls arrived in Sydney on 3 July 1849 on the ship Lady Peel.22


The option of assisting inmates of the workhouse to leave the country was enticing to the beleaguered Guardians of Baltinglass Union. Early in 1850 they applied to the Poor Law Commissioners for permission to send over 300 people to Canada. Having visited the workhouse, the Commissioners’ inspector disapproved of 120 candidates on the grounds that they did not have a fair prospect of being able to provide for themselves or their dependants in Canada. Those rejected were widows with large families and no means of support, or unaccompanied young women.23


In 1851 the workhouse still had over a thousand inmates, but the Famine appears to have been by then a thing of the past. This is evident from the complaint about proselytism made in October 1850 by Father Lalor. Had hunger or disease been a factor at that time, the temporal, as well as spiritual, needs of those living in the workhouse would have featured in the correspondence.


DECLINING FORTUNES OF THE STRATFORDS


By the mid-nineteenth century the Stratford family had owned Baltinglass town and most of its environs for over 140 years and had held the earldom of Aldborough for half that time. 1851 was quite an eventful year in their history, one that signalled the beginning of a legal dispute about the title and the end of the family’s influence in the Baltinglass area. 1851 also produced a minor scandal for the Stratfords, with the arrest of three young men in Italy.


The Stratford family’s fortune had been somewhat weakened fifty years before, on the death of Edward, second Earl of Aldborough. He had quarrelled for years with members of the family. He died in 1801 and was succeeded by his brother John. While John inherited the earldom and all entailed properties, Edward willed all possessions at his personal disposal to his nephew, John Wingfield. What remained of the family estates eventually came into the hands of Edward and John’s nephew, Mason Gerard, fifth Earl of Aldborough. On 4 October 1849 Mason Gerard died at the age of sixty-five at the Italian seaport of Leghorn, leaving an indelible blot on the annals of the family. His chief characteristics were those of a spendthrift and bigamist. The legacies of his profligate life were two sets of offspring competing for legitimacy and the burdening of the family’s property with enormous debts.


Jane Austen would not have been comfortable writing about this man. He was an archetypal regency cad. At the age of twenty, Mason Gerard Stratford met Cornelia Jane Tandy in Waterford. They eloped and went to Kirkcudbright in Scotland, where they married in a Gretna Green-type ceremony in the King’s Arms tavern in August 1804. They had two sons and two daughters over the next six years and evidently money was in short supply. As an officer in the Wicklow Militia, Mason Gerard was stationed from 1808 at Drogheda, and there he and Cornelia got to know Thomas Newcomen and his wife. In 1810 Cornelia was staying in her father’s house ‘partly from economical considerations’ and Mason Gerard took the opportunity to abscond with Mrs. Newcomen. They travelled to London and on to the Isle of Man. In 1812 they returned to London, where they lived as Major and Mrs. Stratford with their ‘several children’. Mason Gerard was committed to debtor’s prison in 1818 and he remained there for the next eight years. In the meantime, Cornelia and her children were supported by her father. In 1823 Mason Gerard’s father, Benjamin O’Neale Stratford, succeeded to the earldom and Mason Gerard received the courtesy title Lord Amiens. Mrs. Newcomen, who evidently remained with him in debtor’s prison, took to calling herself Lady Amiens.24


At this point the new earl began providing for Cornelia’s maintenance. Apparently Mason Gerard was by then disputing the validity of his marriage to her. This, of course, brought into question their children’s legitimacy and the future succession of the earldom. In 1826, apparently with her father-in-law’s support, Cornelia sued for divorce. The Arches’ Court of Canterbury upheld the validity of the marriage and eventually granted the divorce in December 1826.25 In the meantime, Mason Gerard had been released from debtor’s prison in September. Taking no part in the divorce proceedings and discarding Mrs. Newcomen, he left for Paris. On 23 September he went through a form of marriage at the British Embassy with Mary Arundell.26 He was then forty-two and Mary was less than half his age.


Mason Gerard and Mary remained together until his death twenty-three years later and they had at least five children. At his father’s death in July 1833, Mason Gerard became the fifth Earl of Aldborough, with the family estates at his disposal. In his later years, to supplement his income, he endorsed the efficacy of Professor Holloway’s Pills. The Villa Messina, in which he lived in Leghorn, was apparently built by Holloway. Holloway’s newspaper advertisements included a letter from the Earl, dated 21 February 1845, testifying to the wondrous cure of his liver and stomach complaints. Despite the cures, Mason Gerard died four and a half years later, and the advertisements continued to be published for some decades afterwards, causing much upset to his estranged son and heir, the then Earl, who had no financial enticement or wish to endorse the professor’s pills.


To the last, Mason Gerard maintained that Mary Arundell was his lawful wife. In a sealed envelope attached to his will he left a message stating that before he married Cornelia Tandy he had married one Mary Teresa Davenport, who was still alive at the time of the 1804 marriage.27 In 1851, according to a report in The Times, the Aldborough estates were reckoned to be worth £9,000 a year, but the debts left by Mason Gerard were estimated to amount to £150,000. As a result, the Commissioners of Incumbered Estates were in the process of selling off these properties, including most houses in the town of Baltinglass. On Mason Gerard’s death his only surviving child by Cornelia, Benjamin O’Neale Stratford, assumed the style of Earl of Aldborough, while in Italy, Mary Arundell’s son Henry was also using the title. Henry and his younger brothers brought public attention to this irregularity when they were arrested for subversive activities against the Tuscan government in the summer of 1851.


BALTINGLASS 1851



ADMINISTRATION


Members of the Grand Jury of CountyWicklow [as of Spring Assizes 1851] (resident within the Baltinglass area):


Robert F. Saunders, Saundersgrove


Board of Guardians for Baltinglass Poor Law Union:


Chairman- Robert F. Saunders, Saundersgrove;


Vice-Chairman- William J. Westby, High Park, Kiltegan;


Deputy Vice-Chairman- Thomas S. Dennis, Fortgranite


Resident Magistrate:


Captain Bartholomew Warburton


Justices of the Peace (resident within the Baltinglass area):


Benjamin, Earl of Aldborough, Stratford Lodge


Robert F. Saunders, Saundersgrove


Clerk to the Board of Guardians & Returning Officer:


Michael Cooke, Mill Street


Clerk of Petty Sessions Court:


Peter Douglas, Saundersville, Dublin Road, Tuckmill


Registrar of Marriages:


Henry W. Fisher, Main Street


Cess Collector for Talbotstown Upper Barony:


John H. Fenton, Stranahely, Donard



PUBLIC TRANSPORT


Coaches






	to Dublin


	 


	 







	Caravan


	departing Baltinglass 8.30am


	every day







	Royal Mail (from Kilkenny)


	departing Baltinglass 12.30pm


	every day







	from Dublin


	 


	 







	Royal Mail to Kilkenny


	departing Baltinglass 1.00pm


	every day







	Caravan to Tullow


	departing Baltinglass 5.00pm


	every day









STREET DIRECTORY


Ballytore Road [‘County Road’]28 29 Baltinglass West townland


North Side


(Mill Street to Tinoran Road/Brook Lane)


1 see No. 22 Mill Street [James Jones]


2 Dowling, William, sen.


3 Dowling, William, jun.


South Side


(Brook Lane to Mill Street)


4 Wright, Mary


5 Flinter, Henry & Lennon, Thomas


6 Donoghoe, Edward


7 Johnston, William


8 see No. 23 Mill Street [Wesleyan Methodist Chapel]


Bawnoge [‘Bawnoges’] townland, (see Carlow Road, Edward Street, Rathvilly Road & Tullow Old Road)


Bawnoges Road, Baltinglass West &Bawnoge townlands (see Tullow Old Road)


Belan Street, [‘Cuckoo Lane’]30 31 32 Baltinglass West townland


North Side


(Mill Street to Brook Lane)


1 see No. 32 Mill Street [Patrick Doyle]


2 Nolan, John


3 Cummins, Christopher


4 Coventry, Patrick


5 Byrne, Thomas


6 Crow, Michael


7 Kelly, William


8 Lucas, Thomas


9 Curran, John


10 Nolan, John


11 out office owned by Thomas Prendergast


12 Johnson, William


[here land held by William Johnson]


13 Jones, John


14 Yeates, Michael


[here space with no buildings]


South Side


(Tullow Old Road to Edward Street)


15 unoccupied


16 McEvoy, Edward


17 Neill, Edward


18 Dowling, Joseph


19 Smith, John


20 Lusk, Ralph, (partly in ruins)


21 Neill, John


22 Byrne, Charles, (dilapidated)


23 Lynch, Michael


24 Fleming, Thomas


25 unoccupied


26 Byrne, Michael


27 Lawlor, James


[here space with no buildings]


28 Byrne, William


29 Byrne, Christopher


[here laneway to ‘Gallows Hill’]


30 Doyle, Eliza


31 Doyle, Edward, house & forge


32 Patten, Judith


33 Prendergast, Ellen, (ruin)


34 Neill, James & Daly, Michael


35 Shea, Richard, (dilapidated)


36 unoccupied


37 Lyons, Stephen


38 Byrne, Garret


39 Prendergast, Thomas


40 Mooney, Daniel


41 Toole, Michael


42 Donegan, Thomas


43 Maguire, James


44 Hayden, Bridget


45 Gorman, Patrick, (dilapidated)


46 Clarke, Thomas


47 Byrne, Mary


48 Doyle, John


49 out office33 owned by Patrick Doyle


50 unoccupied house, (dilapidated)


51 ruin or building ground


52 see No. 1 Edward Street [James Roche]


The Bridge, Baltinglass East &Baltinglass West townlands


South Side


(Edward Street to Main Street) [Baltinglass West townland]


1 see No. 37 Edward Street [George Dunckley]


[here River Slaney]


[Baltinglass East townland]


2 see No. 1 Main Street [Baltinglass Infirmary]


North Side


[Baltinglass East townland]


3 see No. 63 Main Street [George Darcy]


4 see No. 64 Main Street [Mary Mangan]


[here River Slaney]


[Baltinglass West townland]


5 see No. 1 Mill Street [Thomas Cooke]


Brook Lane, Baltinglass West townland, (between Belan Street/Rathmoon Road & Ballytore Road/Tinoran Road)


no houses here


Cabra Road, Rampere, Rampere townland (between the ‘Five Crossroads’ & Goldenfort)


no houses here


[road continues into Goldenfort townland]


Carlow Road, Bawnoge, Irongrange Lower & Irongrange Upper townlands


West Side


(Edward Street to Carrigeen) [Bawnoge townland]


no houses here


[here ‘Clough Cross’; Tullow Old Road & Rathvilly Road intersect]


no houses here


[Irongrange Lower townland]


1 Murphy, Edward


2 Hoey, Michael, farmer


[Irongrange Upper townland]


no houses here


[road continues into Carrigeen, Co. Kildare at this point]


East Side


(Carrigeen to Edward Street)


[Irongrange Upper townland]


3 Irongrange House (entrance to), Lalor, James, farmer


[Irongrange Lower townland]


4 out offices owned by James Lalor


[here shared entrance to No. 3 of Irongrange Lower and Nos. 2 & 3 of Irongrange Upper townland]


[Bawnoge townland]


no houses here


[here ‘Clough Cross’; Tullow Old Road & Rathvilly Road intersect]


5 Flinter, Henry, farmer


Cars’ Lane, Baltinglass East townland (see Chapel Hill)


Carsrock townland34


2 Wynne, Catherine35, farmer


3 herd’s house owned by John Thorpe36


Chapel Hill, Baltinglass East townland


South Side


(Weavers’ Square/the Fair Green to Sruhaun Road, including Cars’ Lane)


1 Shaw, James, (dilapidated)


2 ruins


3 Crathorne, Thomas


4 Roche, John


[here space with no buildings]


5 Nolan, Denis


(Cars’ Lane south side)


6 unoccupied, (dilapidated)


7 unoccupied, ruins37


8 Lynch, John


9 Ellard, Peter


10 ruins


11 unoccupied, (dilapidated)


[here space with no buildings]


12 National School (boys’ & girls’)


schoolmaster: Peter Byrne


schoolmistress: Bridget Tyrrell


(Cars’ Lane north side)


13 Roman Catholic Chapel, (dilapidated) & graveyard


Parish Priest: Rev. Daniel Lalor, Parochial House, Kiltegan Road


Curates: Rev. John Boland (Workhouse chaplain), Rev. Edward Foley


Rev. John Nolan


14 Kirwan, James


15 Williams, Richard


(Cars’ Lane to Sruhaun Road)


no houses here


North Side


(Sruhaun Road to the Fair Green, Main Street)


16 unoccupied, (dilapidated)


17 Harris, John38


18 Harris, Joseph


19 Rawson, Richard, attorney39


20 Byrne, Peter, house & forge


21 Flynn, William, house & workshop


22 Harris, William & others


23 Fox, John


24 Nowlan, Patrick


25 Deigan, Michael, huckstery


26 Brien, Nicholas, huckstery


Church Lane, Baltinglass East townland


East Side


(Main Street to the Abbey)


1 see No. 62 Main Street


[Robert H. Anderson]


[here side entrance to No. 61 Main Street]


2 Cashel, Mary(behind No. 3, in side entrance to No. 61 Main Street)


3 Out office40 owned by William Murphy


4 Little, Bridget & Quinn, Eliza


5 Cooke, Samuel


6 Huntston, Robert


[here space with no buildings]


7 Rawson, Thomas


[here space with no buildings]


8 Baltinglass Castle41, Hayden, Bridget,farm buildings


9 Baltinglass Abbey (in ruins), Church of Ireland Parish Church (within Abbey) & graveyard,


Rector: Rev. Dr. William Grogan, Slaney Park


Curate: Rev. Henry Scott, Church Lane


Church Wardens: Anthony Allen, Deerpark, & James Murphy, Main Street


West Side


(Abbey to Main Street)


[here space with no buildings]


10 Scott, Rev. Henry42, Church of Ireland curate


11 see No. 63 Main Street [George Darcy]


Cloghcastle, [‘Clough Castle’] townland (see also Rathvilly Road)


1 Lennon, Laurence


2 Kinsella, Philip


4 Earle, William


5 herd’s house owned by William Jones


Clogh, [‘Clough’] Lower townland (see also Rathvilly Road)


1 herd’s house owned by George Douglas


2 herd’s house owned by Thomas Neill


5a Fennell, James, farmer


7a Kehoe, James, farmer


7b Kehoe, Patrick


7c Kelly, Michael


Clogh, [‘Clough’] Upper townland (see Rathvilly Road)


Colemans’ Road, Raheen &Rampere townlands


West Side


(Dublin Road to the ‘Five Crossroads’),


[Raheen townland]


No houses here


[Rampere townland]


1 Coogan, James, farmer


East Side


(‘Five Crossroads’ to Dublin Road), [Rampere townland]


2 McGrath, Andrew


[here joins Cabra Road]


3 Coleman, Mary, farmer


4 Kelly, Thomas


5 Lyon, William43


[Raheen townland]


6 Hunt, Nicholas44 farmer


County Road, Baltinglass West townland, (see Ballytore Road)


Cuckoo Lane, Baltinglass West townland, (see Belan Street)


Cunninghamstown, Sruhaun townland, (see under Sruhaun)


Deerpark townland, (see also Kiltegan Road)


2 Kirwan, John


3 Doyle, Thomas


4a Doyle, Patrick


4b Brien, James


6 Workhouse graveyard


7 Pearson, Thomas


9 Redmond, Nicholas


11a herd’s house owned by John Hendy


12 Brien, Charles


Dublin Old Road, Baltinglass East, Sruhaun &Tuckmill Upper townlands, (see Sruhaun Road)


Dublin Road, Baltinglass West, Stratfordlodge, Raheen, Tuckmill Upper, Tuckmill Lower, Saundersgrove & Saundersgrovehill townlands


West Side


(Mill Street to Ballinacrow Upper)


[Baltinglass West townland]


1 (entrance to) out offices45 owned by the Earl of Aldborough


[Stratfordlodge townland]


2 Infant School46, infant school mistress: Martha Dillon


3 Stratford Lodge Male & Female Schools, (under Church Education Society)


Schoolmaster: Joseph Grothier47


Schoolmistress: Elizabeth Robinson


[here entrance to Stratford Lodge – see under Stratfordlodge townland]


4 Gate lodge, Haliday, Isaac48


[here joins Raheen Hill Road]


5 Nue, Henry49


[Raheen townland]


no houses here


[here joins Colemans’ Road]


6 Mannering, Michael50,


[here Eldon Bridge; road crosses River Slaney]


[Tuckmill Upper townland]


7 Toole, Felix, carpenter51


[here ‘Tuckmill Cross’; here joins Rathbran Road]


[Tuckmill Lower townland]


8 Moran, Christopher


[Saundersgrove townland]


[here entrance to Saundersgrove – see under Saundersgrove townland]


9 Kean, James52


[here joins road by Manger Bridge to Stratford]


[Saundersgrovehill townland]


[here the ‘Hangman’s Corner’]


10 (entrance on road to Manger Bridge), Williams, John


[here joins second road to Manger Bridge]


no houses here


[road continues into Ballinacrow Upper at this point]


East Side


(Ballinacrow Upper to Mill Street)


[Saundersgrovehill townland]


11 Roche, Thomas


[here the ‘Hangman’s Corner’]


12 Saundersville, Douglas, Peter, clerk of the Petty Sessions Court


[Tuckmill Lower townland]


13 untenanted corn mill, owned by Robert F. Saunders


14 Doyle, Laurence


[here ‘Tuckmill Cross’; here joins Kilranelagh Road]


[Tuckmill Upper townland]


15 Dempsey, Matthew, farmer


16 Kelly, John, farmer


17 Dublin & Carlow Turnpike Trust (toll house)


[here joins Sruhaun Road]


no houses here


[here Eldon Bridge; road crosses River Slaney]


[Raheen townland]


18 Nue, William


19 Maher, Edward


20 Carpenter, Richard


[Stratfordlodge townland]


no houses here


[here ‘Horse Pond’]


Edward Street [‘Pound Lane’], Baltinglass West & Bawnoge townlands


West Side


(Belan Street to Carlow Road)


[Baltinglass West townland]


1 Roche, James, leather & grocery shop


2 Darcy, Thomas


3 Ward, John


4 Long, Robert, huckstery


5 Flinter, Thomas, public house


6 Nolan, Ellen, public house


7 unoccupied53


8 Roe, Joseph


9 McLoughlin, John


10 Finn, Matthew


11 Abbott, Laurence


12 out office owned by Edward Mahon, (behind No. 11)


13 building ground held by Patrick Fennell


14 Abbey, John


15 Byrne, Garret, blacksmith (see No. 24 Edward Street)


16 Byrne, Peter


17 Fennell, Patrick


[Bawnoge townland]


18 Abbott, Edward54


19 ruins


20 O’Kane, Peter55


East Side


(Carlow Road to The Bridge)


[Bawnoge townland]


21 Donohoe, Thomas, farmer


22 Flinter, Martin


23 Ellis, John


[Baltinglass West townland]


24 Byrne, Garret, (dilapidated forge), (see No. 15 Edward Street)


25 Dunne, William


26 unoccupied ruins


27 Doyle, Sarah, (dilapidated)


28 Dunne, James


29 unoccupied


30 Kehoe, Martin


31 unoccupied


32 out offices & old tan yard56, owned by James Roche


33 Doyle, Patrick


34 Leonard, George, keeper of the Courthouse, toy shop & the Pound57


35 Dunckley, Mary Anne (dilapidated)


36 Dunckley, Mary Anne (lodgers), (dilapidated)


37 Dunckley, George, grocery shop58


Fair Green, Baltinglass East townland (an alternative name for the area north of the ‘south-east’ block in Main Street; see Main Street)


Glennacanon [‘Glencannon’] townland, (see Tinoran Road)


The Green, (see Fair Green)


Green Lane, Newtownsaunders townland


North Side


(Kiltegan Road to River Slaney)


1 Bracken, Corneliusfarmer


2 see No. 8 Redwells Road [unoccupied]


[here Redwells Road intersects]


3 White, Patrick


4 Finn, Anne


[ends at Maidens Ford at River Slaney]


South Side


no houses here


Hartstown Road, Oldtown, Hartstown, Rampere, Tinoranhill North &Tinoranhill South townlands


North Side


(‘Tinoran Cross’ to ‘Five Crossroads’)


[Oldtown townland]


1 Timmins, George59


2 Byrne, Peter


3 Keogh, John, farmer


4 Harte, Peter, farmer


[Hartstown townland]


5 (entrance to), Byrne, John


6 Moffatt, Patrick, farmer


7 Barry, Brian


[Rampere townland]


no houses here


South Side


(‘Five Crossroads’ to ‘Tinoran Cross’)


[Rampere townland]


8 herd’s house owned by Thomas Fearis


[here site of Rampere Church]


[Tinoranhill North townland]


9 Byrne, Anne


10 Hendy, William, farmer


11 Neill, George


[Tinoranhill South townland]


12 Byrne, Matthew


Hartstown townland


(see also Hartstown Road)


[shared entrance to Nos. 1aa, 1ba, 1bb, 2a, 3 & 4, and possibly 9 on the ‘Bed Road’60]


1aa Leigh, Michael


1ba Dooley, John


1bb Kelly, James


2a Harte, John, farmer


3 Keogh, Anne


4 Harte, Bernard


9 Sleator, Christopher


Holdenstown Lower townland (see also Rathvilly Road)


1a house owned by Patrick Keogh, caretaker: Thomas Smith


1b Dempsey, Edward


1c Brien, Michael


3 Jones, Rebecca, farmer


4a Jones, John


4b Moore, Ellen


5 Brien, Patrick, farmer


7a Kelly, John


7b Gallagher, Hugh


7c Kelly, Michael


7d Gahan, James


9 Dempsey, Patrick


11a Corcoran, Christopher


Holdenstown Upper townland


1 Holdenstown Lodge, Jones, William, farmer


4 Jones, Edward


7 Kelly, Michael


8 Brennan, Murtagh, farmer


9 Deegan, Patrick


10 Deegan, Margaret


11 Carpenter, William, farmer


12a unoccupied house owned by William Carpenter


13 Carpenter, William, jun.


14 Carpenter, Joseph


Irongrange Lower townland (see also Carlow Road)


3a Kearney, Thomas, farmer


Irongrange Upper townland (see also Carlow Road)


2 herd’s house owned by James Lalor


3 herd’s house owned by John Nowlan


4 White, Bridget


Kilmurry townland (see also Kiltegan Road)


1a Farrar, Thomas


1b Lawler, James


2 gate lodge of Fortgranite estate owned by Thomas S. Dennis


4 Molloy, Michael


5 Lawler, Thomas


6 Neill, Charles


7 Lawler, Garrett


Kilmurry Lower townland (see also Kiltegan Road & Redwells Road)


6 Tutty, George, farmer


7a Jackson, Mary


7b Jackson, John


9 Coogan, John, farmer


Kilmurry Upper townland (see also Redwells Road)


1a Doyle, James, house & forge


2b Abbey, Bridget


Kilranelagh Road, Tuckmill, Tuckmill Lower & Tuckmill Upper townlands


North Side


(‘Tuckmill Cross’ to ‘Kyle Bridge’)


[Tuckmill Lower townland]


1 see No. 15 Dublin Road [Laurence Doyle]


2 (‘Doyles of the Lough’), Doyle, Bridget


3 Doyle, Mary


4 Brien, John


5 O’Neill, William61


[here lane leading to Haydens’ in Ballinacrow Lower]


6 Moran, John


7i Moran, Matthew62


7ii Moran, John, junior


[road continues into Kill [‘Kyle’] townland]


South Side


(‘Kyle Bridge’ to ‘Tuckmill Cross’)


[Tuckmill Lower townland]


[here shared entrance to Nos. 8 & 9]


8 Fagan, Patrick


9 Moran, Mary


[here joins Tailor’s Lane]


[Tuckmill Upper townland]


10 see No. 16 Dublin Road [Matthew Dempsey]


Kiltegan Road, Baltinglass East, Lathaleere, Newtownsaunders, Kilmurry Lower, Kilmurry, Woodfield & Deerpark townlands


West Side


(Weavers’ Square to Fortgranite)


[Baltinglass East townland]


1 Parkmore House, De Renzy, Emily E.


[Lathaleere townland]


[here site of former bleach green & bleach mill]


2 Whitehall House63, caretaker: Daniel Doran


[‘Whitehall Cross’; Redwells Road continues south; Kiltegan Road turns east]


[here lands of Allen Dale, site of the former race course]


[here Kiltegan Road turns south]


3 Allen Dale, Allen, Mary


4 Wynne, James


5 Chamley, Bridget


[Newtownsaunders townland]


6 Ryan, Thomas


[here joins Green Lane]


no houses here


[Woodfield townland]


7 Byrne, William


[Newtownsaunders townland]


no houses here


[Kilmurry Lower townland]


8 Tutty, William, farmer


9 Donegan, James


10 Donegan, Denis


[here joins road to Redwells]


[Kilmurry townland]


no houses here


[road continues into Fortgranite townland at this point]


East Side


(Englishtown to Weavers’ Square)


[Kilmurry Lower townland]


11 Freeman, James, farmer


12 Freeman, George, farmer


[Woodfield townland]


[here joins road to Talbotstown]


13 Cullen, Bridget


14 Byrne, Alice, farmer


15 Whelan, Owen


16 Doyle, Patrick


17 Merner, John64


[here shared entrance to Nos. 18 & 19, and to Nos. 1, 2, 5 & 6 of Woodfield townland]


18 Byrne, John, farmer


19 Byrne, Timothy


[Newtownsaunders townland]


[here shared entrance to Nos. 20, 21 & 22, opposite Green Lane]


20 Finn, Thomas


21 Callaghan, Patrick65


22 Leigh, Michael


23 Baltinglass Poor Law Union Fever Hospital


[1851 Census stats.: males 8, females 4; total 12]


Medical officer: Henry W. Fisher, Main Street


24 Baltinglass Poor Law Union Workhouse


[1851 Census stats.:males 437, females 579; total 1,016]


Clerk to the Board of Guardians: Michael Cooke, Mill Street


Medical officer: Henry W. Fisher, Main Street


R.C. chaplain: Rev. John Boland


C. of I. chaplain: Rev. Samuel G. Potter, Stratford


master: Thomas Allen


matron: Ellen Wheatly


other identified employees:


Thomas Cardell, night watchman


Sally Nolan, cook


Thomas Thornton, porter


[Deerpark townland]


25 Lennon, Bridget


26 Lennon, John


27 Deerpark House66 (entrance to) Allen, Anthony, farmer


28 Barrett, George


29 Crampton, William


30 Hendy, John67, farmer


31 Ryan, John


32 Jones, William


[here lane leading to No. 33, and to Nos. 2, 3, 4a, 4b, 5, 6, 7, 8 & 9 of Deerpark and No. 3 of Carsrock townlands]


[Lathaleere townland]


33 herd’s house owned by Richard Rawson [of Chapel Hill]


[here Kiltegan Road turns west]


no houses here


[‘Whitehall Cross’; Kiltegan Road turns north]


34 herd’s house68 owned by Robert Parke


[of Mill Street]


[Baltinglass East townland]


35 Barrett, Adolphus


36 Parochial House, Lalor, Rev. Daniel, Parish Priest


Knockanreagh Road, Baltinglass West, Glennacanon, Knockanreagh & Rathmoon townlands


West Side


(Tinoran Road to Rathmoon Road)


[Knockanreagh townland]


1 Lyons, Edward


2 Brien, Edward, farmer


[Rathmoon townland]


3 Hayden, Dora


4 Dallon, Nicholas


East Side


(Rathmoon Road to Tinoran Road)


[Baltinglass West townland]


5 herd’s house owned by William Johnson69 [of Belan Street]


[Knockanreagh townland]


6 Timmins, Bridget farmer


[Glennacanon townland]


no houses here


Knockanreagh townland (see Knockanreagh Road & Tinoran Road)


Lathaleere townland (see Kiltegan Road & Redwells Road)


Main Street, Baltinglass East townland


South Side


(The Bridge to Weavers’ Square)


1 Baltinglass Infirmary70 (County Wicklow Second Infirmary)


surgeon: Nicholas William Heath, Stratford Cottage, Stratford


2 Norton, Patrick


3 out office owned by George Darcy [of Main Street]


4 out office owned by John Walsh


5 Walsh, John


6 Heath, N. William71 surgeon to Baltinglass Infirmary & medical superintendent of Stratford Fever Hospital


residence: Stratford Cottage, Stratford


7 Murphy, James72 drapery, grocery & general business shop


8 Murphy, William, provisions & delft shop


9 Byrne, John, pawnbroker


10 Toole, Edward, leather & huckstery


11 Byrne, John, grocery & public house


12 Nolan, Thomas, huckstery


13 Neill, James, butcher


14 Lyons, John, (dilapidated)73


15 Ryan, James,


Kitson, Bridget (part of house)


16 Sheridan, James, huckstery


17 Lawler, Rose, rag store & delft shop


18 unoccupied (dilapidated)


19 unoccupied (dilapidated)


20 Pearson, Patrick (dilapidated)74


21 unoccupied


22 McNally, John, boot & shoe maker


23 Sharpe, William


24 Shaw, Christopher, carpenter


25 Fegan, James, huckstery


26 Shaw, Hannah


27 Hayden, Catherine, (dilapidated)75


South-East block


(south face)


28 Constabulary Force, officers’ residence, Thompson, Thomas, Sub-Inspector


[here side of No. 29]


(west face; facing into Market Square)


29 Courthouse & District Bridewell


Petty Sessions clerk: Peter Douglas, Saundersville, Dublin Road, Tuckmill


Courthouse keeper: George Leonard, Edward Street


Bridewell keeper: Thomas Cope;


Matron: Margaret Cope


30 ruins (north of & adjoining the bridewell)


(north face; facing into the Fair Green)


[here side of No. 30]


28 (part of) Constabulary Force police barracksß


Sub-Inspector: Thomas Thompson


identified constables:


Head Constable: John Barton


Constable: Michael Sheehy


(east face; facing into Weavers’ Square)


[here side of No. 28]


north-west block


(east face; facing into the Fair Green)


31 Mitchell, Patrick


(south face; facing into Market Square)


32 Shaw, Abraham


33 Clarke, James


34 Byrne, Loftus


35 ruins


36 Kavanagh, Michael, (dilapidated)


(west face; facing into Market Square)


37 Walsh, Michael, meal store & bakery


38 Clarke, Andrew, provisions & leather shop


(north face)


39 unoccupied


40 unoccupied


41 Lynch, Mary, (dilapidated)


42 McGrath, John, blacksmith (forge dilapidated)


North Side


(Chapel Hill to The Bridge)


[Nos. 43-46 facing the Fair Green]


43 unoccupied, (dilapidated)


44 Hayden, Michael, (dilapidated)


45 Fox, John


46 Griffin, Patrick, (dilapidated)


47 Horan, Anne76


48 out offices owned by John Byrne


49 Byrne, John


50 Hayden, Henry


51 iron store77 owned by William Kelly


52 Kelly, William, grocery & public house & post office


53 Rawson, James, huckstery


54 Flinter, Christopher, huckstery


55 Mackey, Daniel, pawnbroker


56 Nicholson, Peter, public house


57 Byrne, Michael, provisions & huckstery


58 Smith, Abigail, private dwelling


59 Johnson, Anne, apothecary’s shop


60 Fisher, Henry W., medical doctor, medical officer to Baltinglass Union, Workhouse & Fever Hospital, Kiltegan Road


61 Ennis, Michael, drapery shop


62 Anderson, Robert H., mill retail store, meal store, grocery & coal yard, residence: Mill Street


[here joins Church Lane]


63 Darcy, George, public house & caravan shop


64 Mangan, Mary, huckstery


Market Square (an alternative name for the areas south and west of the ‘north-west’ block in Main Street; see Main Street)


Mattymount townland78, (see Rathbran Road)


Mill Street, Baltinglass West townland


East Side


(The Bridge to Dublin Road)


1 Cooke, Thomas, grocery & general business


[here right of way to the river79]


[Nos. 2-3 facing south]


2-3 Kitson, Edward, grocery & general business


4 Long, Alexander, (dilapidated)


5 Nue, William, public house


6 Parke, Robert, (dilapidated out office)


7 Wall, James


8 Hayden, Michael, huckstery


9 Lynch, Matthew


10 Sharpe, Robert80


11 Doran, John & Corcoran, Christopher


12 Corcoran, James


13 Anderson, Robert H., house, flour mill & corn mill81


West Side


(Dublin Road to Belan Street)


14 building ground


15 unoccupied


16 Parke, Catherine


17 Cooke, Michael, clerk to the Board of Guardians


18 McLoughlin, William


19 unoccupied82


20 Harbourne, Elizabeth


21 Campbell, Nicholas (behind No. 20)


22 Jones, James


[here Ballytore Road intersects]


23 Wesleyan Methodist Chapel


no resident minister


24 O’Brien, Thomas, butcher


25 Flinter, Henry, huckstery


26 Darcy, James


27 out offices owned by Robert H. Anderson (behind No. 26)


28 Butler, Benjamin83


29 Parke, Robert, drapery shop


30 Lynch, John, public house


31 Neill, Thomas, grocery shop & hotel


32 Doyle, Patrick, public house & bakery


Newtownsaunders townland (see Green Lane, Kiltegan Road & Redwells Road)


Oldtown townland (see also Hartstown Road)


1 Keogh, Michael, farmer


2 out office owned by Christopher Sleator


5 Bolger, John


6 Owens, Henry


Pound Lane, Baltinglass West & Bawnoge townlands (see Edward Street)


Raheen Hill Road, Stratfordlodge, Raheen & Rampere townlands


West Side


(Dublin Road to the ‘Five Crossroads’)


[Stratfordlodge townland]


1 vacant84


[Raheen townland]


2 Nowlan, Laurence


3 Nowlan, James


4 Brisk, John


5 Coleman, Patrick


6 Coleman, Thomas


7 Hendy, Francis85, farmer


8 herd’s house owned by Martha Neal (entrance to)


[Rampere townland]


9 Condell, James, farmer


East Side


(‘Five Crossroads’ to Dublin Road)


[Rampere townland]


10 Connor, Edward


[Raheen townland]


11 Ryan, Ellen


12 Mahon, Hannah


13 Hunt, John


14 Eustace, Esther


15 Condell, Samuel, farmer


16 Coogan, Jeremiah86


[Stratfordlodge townland]


17 see No. 5 Dublin Road [Henry Nue]


Raheen townland (see also Colemans’ Road, Dublin Road & Raheen Hill Road)


1 Neal, Benjamin


9 Dowdall, William87


Rampere townland (see also Cabra Road, Colemans’ Road, Hartstown Road & Raheen Hill Road)


1 Flinter, Margaret88, farmer


2 Fowler, Michael


Rathbran Road, Tuckmill, Tuckmill Upper, Mattymount & Tuckmill Lower townlands


South Side


(‘Tuckmill Cross’ to Goldenfort)


[Tuckmill Upper townland]


1 see No. 8 Dublin Road [Felix Toole]


[here Tuckmill Bridge; road crosses River Slaney]


[Mattymount townland]


2 Clarke, John89, farmer


[road continues into Goldenfort townland]


North Side


(Goldenfort to ‘Tuckmill Cross’)


[Mattymount townland]


no houses here


[here Tuckmill Bridge; road crosses River Slaney]


[Tuckmill Lower townland]


no houses here


Rathmoon Road, Baltinglass West & Rathmoon townlands


North Side


(Belan Street/Brook Lane to Carrigeen)


[Baltinglass West townland]


no houses here


[here joins Knockanreagh Road]


[Rathmoon townland]


1 herd’s house owned by Edward Kenna


[road continues into Carrigeen, County Kildare at this point]


South Side


(Carrigeen to Tullow Old Road)


[Rathmoon townland]


2 Brien, Mary, farmer


3 Lennon, Michael


4 Doolan, Margaret


5 Rathmoon House, Brophy, James, farmer


[Baltinglass West townland]


no houses here


Rathmoon townland, (see Knockanreagh Road & Rathmoon Road)


Rathvilly Road,90 Bawnoge, Clogh Upper, Holdenstown Lower, Cloghcastle & Clogh Lower townlands


West Side


(‘Clough Cross’ to Rahill)


[Bawnoge townland]


1 Thorpe, John, farmer


[Clogh Upper townland]


2 Thornton, James, farmer


3 herd’s house owned by Henry Kavanagh


4 Farrell, James, farmer


5 Coogan, Owen, farmer


6 Byrne, John


7 Brennan, Murtagh


8 Kehoe, Margaret


9 Molloy, Daniel, farmer


[Holdenstown Lower townland]


no houses here


[road continues into Rahill, Co.unty Carlow at this point]


East Side


(Rahill to ‘Clough Cross’)


[Holdenstown Lower townland]


10 Clarke, Christopher


[Cloghcastle townland]


[here joins road through Holdenstown]


11 (entrance to) Brien, Sylvester, farmer


12 Kane, Terence


13 Jones, William


14 Kelly, Edward


15 Farrell, John


16 Clarke, Sarah


17 Lennon, Bridget


18 Toole, Bridget


19 Kane, Michael


20 Kavanagh, Laurence


21 Kelly, Bridget


22 Kehoe, Mary, jun.


23 (entrance to) Kehoe, Mary, farmer


[Clogh Lower townland]


24 Hennessy, William


[here site of Rellickeen]


25 Kehoe, Patrick, farmer


[here shared entrance to No. 26 and No. 5a of Clogh Lower townland]


26 Kelly, Denis


27 Abbott, Martin


28 Hegarty, Martin


29 herd’s house owned by Patrick Doyle


[Bawnoge townland]


30 Tobin, James


31 Molloy, James, (behind 30 [Tobin])


32 Nowlan, James


The Redwells, (see Kilmurry Lower, Kilmurry Upper & Redwells Road)


Redwells Road, Lathaleere, Newtownsaunders, Slaney Park, Kilmurry Upper & Kilmurry Lower townlands


West Side


(Kiltegan Road at ‘Whitehall Cross’ to Mountneill Bridge)


[Lathaleere townland]


[here lands of Whitehall House]


1 Thorpe, William


2 Thorpe, Thomas


3 Doyle, Patrick


4 Quinn, Thomas


5 Kavanagh, Sylvester


[Newtownsaunders townland]


6 Mahon, Thomas


7 see No. 3 Green Lane [Patrick White]


[here road intersects with Green Lane]


no houses here


[Slaney Park townland]


8 Slaney Park (entrance to) Grogan, Rev. William, Rector of Baltinglass Parish


9 unoccupied91


[here ‘Redwells Cross’; here joins road through Holdenstown]


[Kilmurry Upper townland]


10 Thorpe, Eliza


[here Mountneill Bridge; road continues into Mountneill, Co. Carlow at this point]


East Side


(Mountneill Bridge to Kiltegan Road at ‘Whitehall Cross’)


[Kilmurry Upper townland]


[here shared entrance to Nos. 11 & 12]


11 Byrne, Edward, farmer


12 Nolan, John, farmer


13 Jones, Edward, farmer


[here ‘Redwells Cross’; here joins road through Kilmurry]


[Kilmurry Lower townland]


14 Brennan, John


15 Coogan, Catherine   farmer


[Slaney Park townland]


no houses here


[Newtownsaunders townland]


16 Newtownsaunders (entrance to), Jones, John, land agent


[here road intersects with Green Lane]


17 unoccupied


18 Neill, John


[Lathaleere townland]


no houses here


Saundersgrove townland, (see also Dublin Road)


1a Saundersgrove, Saunders, Robert F., landowner


1b Wilson, Eliza, (estate farmhouse)92


Saundersgrovehill townland, (see also Dublin Road)


5 Cullen, James


Slaney Park townland, (see Redwells Road)


Sruhaun [‘Shrughaun’ or Dublin Old] Road, Baltinglass East, Sruhaun & Tuckmill Upper townlands


West Side


(Chapel Hill to Dublin Road)


[Baltinglass East townland]


1 Pearson, Thomas


[Sruhaun townland]


2 Murphy, Patrick


[Tuckmill Upper townland]


no houses here


East Side


(Dublin Road to Chapel Hill)


[Tuckmill Upper townland]


3 Brien, James, farmer


[Sruhaun townland]


4 Kelly, Thomas


[here lane to No. 12a of Sruhaun townland]


5 Toole, James (entrance to)


[Baltinglass East]


no houses here


Sruhaun [‘Shrughaun’] townland93, (see also Sruhaun Road)


12a Toole, James


13 Byrne, Patrick


14a Mara, John


14b Cunningham, Thomas


14c Lyons, John


14d unoccupied house owned by the Earl of Aldborough


14e Malone, Edward


14f Cunningham, Henry


16 herd’s house owned by Hannah Shaw [of Main Street]


Stratfordlodge townland, (see also Dublin Road & Raheen Hill Road)


1a herd’s house owned by Thomas Condell


1b Fogarty, James


1c Lawler, John94


2a Stratford Lodge, Aldborough, Earl of


2aa Hendy, John95


2c unoccupied96


Tailor’s Lane, Tuckmill, Tuckmill Lower & Tuckmill Upper townlands


East Side


(Kilranelagh Road to Coolinarrig)


[Tuckmill Lower townland]


1 Lee, Thomas


2 Lee, Patrick


3 Byrne, Thomas


4 Reddy, John


[road continues into Coolinarrig Lower townland]


West Side


(Coolinarrig to Kilranelagh Road)


[here Tuckmill Hill townland – outside of area being covered]


[Tuckmill Upper townland]


no houses houses


Tinoran Road, Baltinglass West, Glennacanon, Tinoranhill South & Knockanreagh townlands


North-East Side


(Ballytore Road/Brook Lane to ‘Tinoran Cross’)


[Baltinglass West townland]


1 out offices97 owned by the Earl of Aldborough


[Glennacanon townland]


2 unoccupied house owned by Michael Brophy


3 Brophy, Michael, farmer


4 Doogan, Charles, farmer


5 Doogan, Mary


6 Byrne, Maurice, farmer


[Tinoranhill South townland]


7 Neill, Joseph, farmer


8 Neill, John, farmer


9 Byrne, Maurice


[here ‘Tinoran Cross’; here joins Hartstown Road; road continues into Oldtown Lackareagh & Monatore townlands]


South-West Side


(‘Tinoran Cross’ to Brook Lane)


[here Monatore townland – outside of area being covered]


[Tinoranhill South townland]


no houses here


[Knockanreagh townland]


10 herd’s house owned by Robert H. Anderson [of Mill Street]


11 Connolly, John


[here joins Knockanreagh Road]


[Glennacanon townland]


no houses here


[Knockanreagh townland]


no houses here


[Baltinglass West townland]


no houses here


Tinoranhill North townland, (see Hartstown Road)


Tinoranhill South townland, (see also Hartstown Road & Tinoran Road)


7a Brennan, James98


Tuckmill Lower townland, (see Dublin Road, Kilranelagh Road, Rathbran Road & Tailor’s Lane)


Tuckmill Upper townland, (see also Dublin Road, Rathbran Road, Sruhaun Road & Tailor’s Lane)


11 Jones, John


13c unoccupied house owned by James Brien99


Tullow Old Road, Baltinglass West & Bawnoge townlands


East Side


(Belan Street to ‘Clough Cross’)


[Baltinglass West townland]


1 see No. 15 Belan Street [unoccupied]


2 Nolan, James


3 Higginson, Mary


4 Byrne, Bridget


5 Fitzgerald, Robert


6 Scully, Thomas


7 ruin or building ground


8 Groves, William (dilapidated mud wall cabin)


9 ruin or building ground


10 Byrne, Christopher (dilapidated)


11 Lennon, Michael


12 Lennon, Peter


13 unoccupied (dilapidated)


[Bawnoge townland]


no houses here


West Side


(‘Clough Cross’ to Belan Street)


[Bawnoge townland]


14 herd’s house owned by James Murphy


15 herd’s house owned by Robert Anderson


[Baltinglass West townland]


16 herd’s house owned by the Earl of Aldborough


Weavers’ Square100, Baltinglass East townland


West Side


(Main Street to Kiltegan Road)


[here ground held by William Murphy]


1 Thornton, Jane


2 Mahon, Christopher


3 Flynn, John


4 Wilson, Anthony, public house


5 unoccupied, (dilapidated)


6 McNamara, John


7 Farrell, Laurence, public house


8 Magennis, Michael


9 Browne, Christopher


10 Robinson, Michael


11 Curran, Arthur


12 Strahan, William


East Side


(Kiltegan Road to the Fair Green/Chapel Hill)


13 Roman Catholic Chapel (under construction)


14 Gaffney, Michael


15 Neill, James


16 Magennis, Edward


17 Gaffney, James


18 Byrne, James


19 Kavanagh, John


20 Hennessy, Bridget


21 Mooney, James


22 Farrell, Mary


23 Warburton, Bartholomew101Resident Magistrate


24 Tyrrell, Patrick


25 Byrne, Peter


26 Carty, Michael


27 Dunckley, George, lodgers


28 Dunckley, George, lodgers


29 Brien, John, (behind No. 27)


30 Brien, Catherine


31 Cairnes, William


32 Conway, Peter


33 Kerry, Michael, (next to No. 28)


34 Byrne, John &Taaffe, Samuel


35 Toole, Bridget


36 Finn, Luke


37 Sinnott, Mary Anne


38 Farrell, Mary, (dilapidated)


39 see No. 1 Chapel Hill [James Shaw]


Woodfield townland, (see also Kiltegan Road)


1 Murphy, John


2 Whelan, John


3 Reilly, Mary, farmer


5 Neill, James


6 Donohoe, Anne


10aa Brennan, Laurence


11 Nicholson, John, junior


12 herd’s house owned by John Nicholson


13 Burke, John


14 Jones, Edward


STRATFORD FAMILY ARRESTS IN LEGHORN


SATURDAY 7 JUNE 1851


The arrest in Italy of three sons of Mason Gerard Stratford, late Earl of Aldborough, on 7 June 1851 brought further notoriety to the Stratford family and forced the then Earl into making a public statement asserting his right to the title. The arrests came after the family villa in Leghorn (or Livorno) was searched in the presence of the British Consul and a printing press was found.


In 1848 unsuccessful rebellions had broken out in many European countries. The disturbances throughout the various Italian states had been linked to the movement for unification of Italy, of which Guiseppe Mazzini was one of the main leaders. Though the insurrections failed, the revolutionary spirit remained. Leghorn was then a prosperous Mediterranean port in the Grand Duchy of Tuscany. In 1849 the Grand Duke was restored to power and his government was bolstered by the presence of the armed forces of the Austrian Empire. The Stratford brothers had been living in Leghorn from at least 1845, when they were teenagers. After their father’s death in 1849 they remained with their mother in their villa, described by a Times correspondent as ‘a solitary out of the way place, with poverty written, as it were, on the doors’.


When the house was raided many papers and ‘treasonable publications’ were confiscated along with the printing press, while Henry Stratford and his two younger brothers were taken into custody. It was reported that they were connected with Mazzini’s group, but later one of the brothers was quoted as saying that they had no links with Mazzini and that their only aim was to encourage insurrection at Leghorn. As many of the papers found were in English, some delay was caused by translation into Italian, so the brothers were held for over ten weeks by the Austrian commander-in-chief, who declared Leghorn to be in a state of siege. However, on 22 August it was reported that they had been handed over to the local judicial authorities. There are no further accounts of the affair in The Times after this point, so the outcome of their trial is uncertain.102 However, a decade later Tuscany was part of the new Kingdom of Italy.


What caused the then Earl of Aldborough, Benjamin O’Neale Stratford, considerable embarrassment was that the eldest of the three arrested brothers was referred to in newspaper accounts as Lord Aldborough. Indeed, in an article published in The Times on 4 July a correspondent from Florence stated:




As the title claimed by these young men is disputed, I have only to say that I have seen a certificate of the marriage of the late Lord Aldborough with the English lady, their mother, and that to the hour of death his Lordship said she was his legal wife.





On 17 July 1851 the following letter to the Editor of The Times was published:




Sir, – My attention having been called to paragraphs professing to be copied from The Times in a Dublin newspaper, and also in Galignani, relative to young men who are compromised in an affair with the Austrian Government at Leghorn, in which one of them is styled ‘Lord Aldborough,’ and some particulars stated with regard to my father, the late Earl, which contain just sufficient truth to lead the public (or any persons, at least, who are not fully acquainted with the facts) to suppose the question a doubtful one, I cannot avoid expressing my surprise that the editor of a journal should put forward a statement of this kind on the authority of a correspondent, which a reference to the Peerage would have set him right on.


I consider I am not unreasonable in hoping (if the paragraphs are correctly copied) that you will make the necessary inquiries to satisfy yourself on this point, and that having done so you will correct the error.




I am, Sir, your obedient servant,


Aldborough.


Stratford-lodge, Baltinglass, County Wicklow, July 14.








The question of the legality of the late Earl of Aldborough’s 1826 marriage to Mary Arundell finally came to a head in June 1854, when Mary opposed Benjamin O’Neale Stratford’s claim to the title on behalf of her son, Henry Stratford, the eldest of the brothers arrested in Leghorn. Mason Gerard Stratford’s 1804 marriage to Cornelia Tandy was recognised as legal before Cornelia was granted a divorce in December 1826. As he had married Mary Arundell over two months before the divorce was granted, this second marriage was bigamous and illegal. Mary Arundell’s claim was rejected by the House of Lords on 12 June 1854, on the recommendation of its Committee for Privileges.


Having lost her claim, Mary Arundell is said to have spent the rest of her life in Florence under the name of Mrs Gerard. However, the dispute made the columns of The Times again in the 1860s. In December 1864 the newspaper reported the death of a twenty-six year old son of the late Earl’s relationship with Mary Arundell. He had drowned off the coast of North Africa in the Bay of Tunis on 31 November. The Earl’s legal widow took exception to the young man being described as ‘Hon. Byron Stratford, son of the late Mason Gerard, Earl of Aldborough, and Mary Arundell, his wife’. On 6 January 1865 a letter from the Dowager Countess’s legal representative appeared in The Times, reasserting the legal status of her 1804 marriage to the late Earl and her son’s right to the title, as confirmed in 1854 by the House of Lords.


SALE OF THE ALDBOROUGH ESTATES


WEDNESDAY 2 JULY 1851


A large part of Baltinglass town and its environs, owned by the Stratford family since 1707, changed hands at the Court of the Commissioners for Sale of Incumbered Estates in Ireland, 14 Henrietta Street, Dublin, on 2 July 1851.103 It was possibly the single most important sale of property in the history of the town, effecting numerous houses and transferring title to a combination of occupiers and new landlords.


The town and several of the surrounding townlands had been purchased outright from James Carroll on 31 July 1707 by Edward Stratford. Edward’s son, John, had become Earl of Aldborough in 1777. The colossal debts accumulated by John’s grandson, Mason Gerard, the fifth Earl, who died in 1849, occasioned the sale. As well as the Baltinglass property, there were lands in Limerick and Tipperary in the auction. Some of the Aldborough estates had already been sold by the Incumbered Estates Court. In this sale it was intended that the residue would go. Lord Aldborough’s residence, Stratford Lodge, was not in the sale, nor were various properties which had been the property of his aunt, Lady Elizabeth Stratford, who died in 1848. There were fifty-seven lots (fifty-three of them in the Baltinglass area) and, according to The Times, all but four were bought. These were withdrawn because of a legal technicality. Most of the remainder of the Aldborough estates was auctioned on 12 December 1854, with more than four lots for sale.104


The gross rental of the properties sold at the 1851 auction was estimated at £4,100 per year and they sold for £61,566, roughly fifteen years’ rental. However, many of the properties bought by sitting tenants fetched up to twenty or even thirty years’ rental and those which went for relatively low amounts were considered to have obtained their market value. The Times stated that the auction could be regarded as ‘the most satisfactory of any that have taken place since the Court commenced its arduous duties’.105


Though the Stratford family’s connection with Baltinglass was to continue for another twenty-four years, and their descendants were to retain property interests into the twentieth century, this large sale in 1851 heralded the beginning of the end.


STRATFORD LODGE DESTROYED BY FIRE


SUNDAY 28 FEBRUARY 1858


On the morning of Sunday 28 February 1858, flames were seen coming from the windows of Stratford Lodge, the home of the Earl of Aldborough overlooking the town. Within twelve hours the mansion was a ruin.


Lord Aldborough was alone in the house on the night before the fire, which started in the drawing room. According to a contemporary account by his cousin Ellen Saunders,106 an old woman from Baltinglass called Betty Hunt was the first to raise the alarm. She and others spent over an hour trying to waken the Earl. He was roused only when the police broke his bedroom windows with stones. He escaped to safety but, with no water supply closer than the river, any effort to save the building was futile. Some furniture was saved but it was broken in the effort. When the roof fell in the house became a mass of flames. The fire burned late into the evening. The following account appeared in the Leinster Express on Saturday 6 March 1858:




DESTRUCTIVE FIRE AT STRATFORD LODGE, COUNTY WICKLOW. –


The inhabitants of the town of Baltinglass and its vicinity were thrown into excitement on Sunday last on hearing of a fire having occurred at Stratford Lodge, the beautiful residence of the Right Hon. Earl of Aldborough. At 6 o’clock on the morning of Sunday last, an alarming fire was discovered breaking out at the drawing room window. The alarm being given, the police and several of the workmen and nearest inhabitants were on the spot, but for want of an engine, all their efforts to check the progress of the destructive element were unavailing. Fanned by a strong easterly breeze, the flames raged with unabated fury, and by 6 o’clock p.m., the county Wicklow residence of the noble family of Stratford had become a total heap of ruin. Several articles of furniture, books, pictures, &c., &c., were saved, but nevertheless the destruction of property must be enormous. His lordship made his escape through the window of his bed room, fortunately without injury. The origin of the fire has not been yet ascertained.





One of the Earl’s major passions was hot air ballooning. Some years before the fire, in pursuit of this interest, he had a large granite outhouse constructed, apparently west of the mansion. This balloon house supposedly had a doorway fifty feet wide and sixty feet high.107 It would appear that it was built between 1843 and 1852108 and most likely after he succeeded his father in 1849. The balloon house survived the fire, but Lord Aldborough’s plans for the balloon were destroyed. He moved his surviving furniture into the balloon house and lived there while he remained in Ireland.


Stratford Lodge had been built in the eighteenth century, but the family’s principal country residence was Belan House near Moone. Benjamin O’Neale Stratford, a younger son of the first Earl and a militia captain during the 1798 Rebellion, seems to have lived in Stratford Lodge on a permanent basis during his adult life. After succeeding to the earldom in 1823 he remained there. Benjamin’s successor as 5th Earl was his disreputable son Mason Gerard, who lived abroad. Another Benjamin O’Neale Stratford, one of the young children abandoned by Mason Gerard in 1810, spent at least part of his early life with his namesake grandfather in Stratford Lodge. During at least part of Mason Gerard’s time as Earl, Benjamin (then Viscount Amiens) lived at Stratford Lodge with his aunts. One of these aunts, Lady Elizabeth Stratford, was known for her charity and religious zeal. She maintained a shop for supplying goods at cost price to poor residents and endowed Stratford Lodge School and an infant school, all of which were built on the edge of the estate. Lady Elizabeth died in 1848. Her sister, Lady Sophia, later lived in Dublin and their nephew, the sixth Earl, remained in Stratford Lodge as a semi-recluse.


E.P. O’Kelly was an eleven year old boy at the time of the fire and the account he wrote many years later109 differed somewhat from Ellen Saunders’s. He said that the alarm was raised by the driver of the post-car from Athy to Baltinglass and that the same man had already roused the Earl by throwing stones at his window. According to Ellen Saunders, Lord Aldborough believed the fire was started maliciously, as he had not lit a fire in the drawing room for six weeks prior to the incident. He said he would stay in the balloon house until he had his salvaged possessions packed and then he would go to London and never return to Ireland. Evidently the destruction was caused by burglars. E.P. O’Kelly stated that a gold watch which the Earl remembered having left in the drawing room the night before the fire was recovered from a Dublin pawn shop some months later.


Lord Aldborough eventually moved to Alicante in Spain, where he died in 1875. His balloon house was dismantled and the granite was used in the construction of the tower of St Joseph’s church. In the late 1920s, when the parkland of Stratford Lodge was adapted to the use of the golf club, the gradual destruction of the ruins of the mansion and its outhouses began. The last piece of the structure, an archway, was torn down in 1980.


DEATH OF JOHN THOMOND O’BRIEN


SATURDAY 1 JUNE 1861


It is not at all certain that the death of John Thomond O’Brien had any great impact on Baltinglass at the time. He died in Lisbon while returning to South America, where he had lived most of his life since the 1810s. Though he was an important man in the former Spanish colonies of South America, his fame did not have the same currency in Ireland.


Martin Bryan, or O’Brien, was a relatively prosperous merchant in Baltinglass in the last two decades of the eighteenth century, acquiring leases of a number of premises and lands. He died in the first decade of the nineteenth century, leaving an interest in his property to four children. One was John, who is said to have been born on 24 June 1786. After his father’s death John got into financial difficulty which weakened the family’s fortunes. Shortly afterwards he went to London and then sailed for South America intending to get started in business. Instead, he got involved in the movement for independence from Spain, becoming a founder of the Mounted Grenadiers under General San Martin, whose exploits forged the way for the establishment of many of today’s South American countries. John O’Brien (he added ‘Thomond’ as an adult) distinguished himself in the military sphere, playing a significant role in the independence process, and was rewarded in becoming an aide-de-camp to San Martin.110


Later O’Brien devoted much of his time to developing mining interests. In 1827, on one of many voyages back to Europe, he went about encouraging investment in South America and building trade links. In 1858 he made his last visit to Europe, during which he is said to have spent time in Baltinglass. He remained more than a year in England. When he eventually set sail for South America in 1861 he became unwell and had to stop off at Lisbon. There he died, at Casa calle Alecrim No. 71, on 1 June 1861. A measure of his importance in South America is that in 1935, the government of Argentina had his body exhumed and ‘repatriated’ to Buenos Aires. There he was given an elaborate reburial.111 It is strange that his memory faded in his native town and by the late twentieth century there was virtually nothing known about his connection with Baltinglass. It was not until 2005 that his name was re-established in the town.


DEDICATION OF ST JOSEPH’S CHURCH


SUNDAY 21 APRIL 1872


Though the building of the Roman Catholic Church in Baltinglass was begun in the 1840s and it was opened for worship in the 1850s, the ceremony of dedication did not take place till 1872. On Sunday 21 April 1872 the Bishop of Kildare and Leighlin, Right Rev. James Walshe, came to Baltinglass to dedicate the church to St. Joseph.112 The building Bishop Walshe visited had no tower, no bell and no gallery as these were added later. Indeed construction work on the church was to continue intermittently throughout the nineteenth century.


At the time of the dissolution of Baltinglass Abbey in the 1530s, its church was serving as the parish church. After the Reformation it continued to be used as the Church of Ireland parish church until the 1880s. Where the Roman Catholic community worshipped prior to the late eighteenth century, or whether they had a chapel in the town itself in the interim, is not known. It is just possible that there was one somewhere on the lands acquired in the mid-nineteenth century by the Roman Catholic parish, as the 1844 lease of part of these lands described them as part of the ‘Chappelfield, Monkfield & part of the Old Deer Park of Baltinglass’.113 Certainly by 1799 there was a Catholic chapel in the town. At the time the term ‘parish church’ was applied to the Church of Ireland place of worship, as it was recognised as the established or state church. Catholic places of worship were referred to as chapels, while places of worship for dissenting Protestants were chapels or meetinghouses. On 9 December 1799 Richard Rawson of Baltinglass granted a lease to Rev. William Dooley, Parish Priest of Baltinglass, in trust for his parishioners, of ‘the new chapel or house of worship situate in the Town of Baltinglass together with the yard thereto belonging’.114 How long this ‘new’ chapel had been in existence is unclear, but by 1802 it was well established, as another deed referred to property ‘on the Chapel Hill of Baltinglass’.115


One of the least oppressive of the eighteenth century Penal Laws was that prohibiting Roman Catholic chapels from having steeples or bells. As with many of the other Penal Laws, there were ways of getting around this particular one. By erecting a belfry adjacent to, but not adjoining, the chapel no law was broken. In Baltinglass a bell tower was built some yards away from the chapel in the north-eastern extremity of the chapel yard. Following the 1829 enactment of Catholic emancipation, a plaque was placed on this tower by the then Parish Priest, Rev. John Shea, commemorating the event. Apparently about the same time Father Shea had several feet added to the tower’s height.116 Long after the church on Chapel Hill had been abandoned and had fallen into decay, the bell in this tower continued in use, until a bell was placed in the tower of the new church in the 1890s. Today the tower stands alone in the centre of the extended graveyard.


By the 1840s the church on Chapel Hill was in a bad state of repair, and was possibly too small for the congregation. In March 1841 it was described as having three galleries, the ground floor was ‘very bad and uneven’ and a large part of one of the side walls was leaning outwards.117 In the autumn of 1853 it was recorded that: ‘A great portion of this building fell since old valuation’.118 The man chiefly responsible for the initiative of building a new church would appear to have been Rev. Daniel Lalor, who replaced Father Shea as Parish Priest in 1831. Certainly it was during the first thirty years of Father Lalor’s long pastorate that the parish acquired a very extensive property, including all houses on the south side of Chapel Hill, some on the east side of Weavers’ Square, and all the land extending south from Chapel Hill almost as far as Lathaleere. According to the Kinsella Manuscript, before Father Lalor began this acquisition the only parish property was ‘the C.C. house and strip of land between avenue and road’, i.e., the northern half of the present day Parochial House and the piece of land between it and the Kiltegan Road. This would seem to equate to the piece of land leased by Father Lalor from James and Margaret Murphy of Newry near Carnew on 8 July 1844.119


The site for the new church was leased on 4 June 1846 by James Kehoe of Clogh to three trustees, Dr Francis Haly, Bishop of Kildare and Leighlin, Francis Nolan of Carrigeen and James Lalor of Irongrange.120 The lease was for 999 years at an annual rent of £8. The site, which contained one acre and thirty perches, statute measure, was described as a piece of land in Baltinglass with a front of sixty-four feet on the street.


The architect was John Bourke, who was responsible for many fine churches of the period.121 The stone for the building was quarried at Carsrock and near the moat in Rathvilly parish. The construction begun while the Famine devastated the country, and it continued into the early 1850s, so it would have been a source of employment for labourers during that bleak period, providing them with a means of supporting their families. Supervision of the project was in the hands of Rev. John Nolan, a curate in Baltinglass since 1835. He engaged a contractor from Newtownbarry (now Bunclody) named Browne, who built the first thirteen feet. However, Father Nolan was not satisfied with the work and he dismissed Browne and completed the project by direct labour. Most of the scaffolding was lent by William Wentworth Fitzwilliam Hume of Humewood. However, when Hume asked Father Lalor for support in his bid for election to Parliament in 1852, the Parish Priest refused, accusing him of evictions.122 123 Felix Toole, a carpenter living at Tuckmill Cross, is said to have roofed the church.124


The new building was opened for worship sometime about 1854. Father Lalor added the porches towards the end of his term as Parish Priest. He died on 24 January 1871, a few weeks short of forty years after coming to Baltinglass, and he was buried in the new church, a side altar being erected to commemorate him. He was succeeded by Very Rev. Dr. Denis Kane. Just over a year later the dedication took place. The only entry in Dr Kane’s diary under 1872 simply reads:




St Josephs opened


Sermon by F. Fox125





The architect J.S. Butler is credited with designing the main altar.126 According to the Annals of Baltinglass Convent, the altar was erected in 1873 and was carved by a local carpenter named Evans. This craftsman was Francis Evans (1838-1889), a native of Portrushen, near Kiltegan, who moved to Baltinglass sometime between 1868 and 1870.


Dr Denis Kane is remembered in Baltinglass chiefly as the man who brought the Presentation Sisters to the town, though his predecessor had instigated that move. On the wider stage, Dr Kane was known for his academic career. He was educated in Carlow College and Maynooth. After his ordination in 1848 he spent almost a decade on the staff of Carlow College. His fame as a preacher drew the attention of John Henry (later Cardinal) Newman, Rector of the Catholic University of Ireland, which opened in November 1854. Newman invited Kane to lecture at the University Church. Kane also conducted retreats in religious houses throughout Ireland before taking up parochial work in 1857. In 1866, with Bishop Walshe, he travelled to Rome, where he received his Doctorate of Divinity. His tenure as Parish Priest in Baltinglass lasted only twelve years. Dr Kane died after a short illness on 2 July 1883, and he too was buried in the church. The parishioners formed a committee to raise funds for the erection of a memorial. Cardinal Newman contributed £5 towards it. In February 1884 this memorial, a side altar dedicated to St. Philip Neri, was completed over the grave.127


Dr Kane’s successor as Parish Priest was Rev. Arnold Wall. During Father Wall’s time the steps in front of the church were added128 and, according to the Annals of Baltinglass Convent, the tower and the organ gallery were added in 1887. The tower is said to have been built with the stone from Lord Aldborough’s balloon house. The Convent Annals also state that the organ was built by a Mr. White, who played it when it was ceremoniously launched in May 1891. Father Wall died in 1893 and the following year his memorial window, depicting the Crucifixion, was erected behind the main altar.129 His successor, Rev. Thomas O’Neill, continued the work of completing the church. According to the Convent Annals, the tower was finished by 1895, when the bell and clock were installed. However, as the bell was defective it was replaced by a new one three years later. The bell in the old tower on Chapel Hill being thus made redundant, it was removed to the church in Stratford130 and the tower was left as a silent witness to the continuing evolution of Baltinglass.


ARRIVAL OF THE PRESENTATION SISTERS


TUESDAY 18 MARCH 1873


The Presentation Sisters had an enormous influence on the life of Baltinglass for over a century, providing education for generations of girls and in latter years, through their involvement in Baltinglass Post Primary School, teenagers of both sexes. Their association with the town began quite modestly on 18 March 1873 with three of their number travelling from Carlow, accompanied by the Administrator of Carlow parish, Rev. Andrew Phelan, to be received in St Joseph’s church, Baltinglass, by the clergy and parishioners. The three pioneers were Sister Magdalen Hussey, Sister Augustine Hussey and Sister Agnes Barrett. After prayers in the church, the three nuns went to their new home, on the corner of Weavers’ Square and Chapel Hill. The convent was officially founded the following day, the feast of St Joseph. In the morning the nuns attended eight o’clock mass, at which the Parish Priest, Dr Kane, gave an impressive sermon on ‘the great usefulness of the Institution about to be founded in Baltinglass’.131 This was followed by Benediction, and then Dr Kane brought the Blessed Sacrament to the chapel of the convent.132 The three nuns represented the first religious order to have a presence in Baltinglass since the dissolution of the Abbey over 330 years earlier. The community they founded was to last for 117 years.


Though the Presentation Sisters came to live in Baltinglass in 1873 under the protection of Dr. Kane, the creation of this new community apparently had its origins in Father Lalor’s attempts more than twenty years earlier to acquire parish property. According to the Kinsella Ms., once he had managed to rent the various properties which were to form the block of parish property, he decided to buy them out. For this purpose he required £2,000. He approached two of his most prosperous parishioners, Lalor of Irongrange and Nolan of Carrigeen, but they would not or could not assist. He then turned to the convent in Mountrath, of which community two of his sisters were members. The convent agreed to put forward the money on condition that a Presentation convent be erected on the site and endowed.


There may be some truth in this story but it is not strictly accurate. The convent in Mountrath was of the Brigidine order, so it would be strange for them to advance the money on condition that a Presentation convent be built. Father Lalor was a native of Ballyfin parish and his contemporary Margaret (Sister Brigid) Lalor, from the same parish, was in the Brigidine community in Mountrath. She entered in 1812, was professed in 1814 and died in 1871 aged 86, so she may well have been Father Lalor’s sister.133


In any case, the parish property was purchased through the Incumbered Estates Court in two separate transactions, in 1851 and 1852.134 The purchase was in the name of Ellen Lalor of Mountrath, who may have been another sister of Father Lalor, but she was not in the convent. In 1851 she paid £1,145 for three properties which together formed a block containing about seventy-three statute acres. This included all the south side of Chapel Hill and Cars’ Lane. It extended eastwards into Carsrock townland and southwards along the Kiltegan Road as far as the site of the present Scoil Naomh Iósaf (formerly St. Pius X National School). It included the Parochial House and the church. By this one purchase Ellen Lalor became the outright owner of all the property in this block with the exception of several houses on the east side of Weavers’ Square.135 The purchase appears also to have included some of the houses on the lower part of the north side of Chapel Hill.136 In 1852 Ellen Lalor paid £140 for just over thirteen acres in Sruhaun and another property in Weavers’ Square.137


The property of which the Parochial House and the church were part (the ‘Chappelfield, Monkfield & part of the Old Deer Park of Baltinglass’) had a complicated history which it took Father Lalor another two transactions to rectify. In 1796 Lord Aldborough had granted a lease for lives, with allowance for perpetual renewal, to Bartholomew Bryan, and this was inherited by James and Margaret Murphy of Newry near Carnew. Evidently the Murphys sublet the property, or most of it, to the Kehoes of Clogh. By deeds dated 1853 and 1857138 Father Lalor secured the interests of the Murphys and the Kehoes, and somehow Ellen Lalor’s purchases became vested in Father Lalor.


Finally, on 1 November 1862 Father Lalor made over all the property purchased under the name of Ellen Lalor to three trustees. They were Right Rev. James Walshe, Bishop of Kildare and Leighlin, Most Rev. Paul Cullen, Archbishop of Dublin (later Cardinal Cullen), and Rev. Patrick Celestine Nolan, Parish Priest of Rathvilly. According to the memorial at the Registry of Deeds, the trustees were to hold the property ‘upon the charitable trusts and to and for the intents and purposes therein after declared’.139 Unfortunately, no other evidence has been found in relation to what become known as the Lalor Trust, but it would appear that the erection of a convent was one of its purposes.


Father Lalor died in January 1871, just over two years before the convent was founded, so plans for the building of the nuns’ first home in Baltinglass must have been made during his lifetime. This first convent, on the corner of Weavers’ Square and Chapel Hill, was built on the site of what had been in 1851 a dilapidated house and adjoining ruins. Evidently there was a tower attached to the building, as a bell was placed in the convent tower on 29 September 1873. From the outset, the position of superioress was held by Mother Magdalen Hussey, who had been professed in 1855. She and Sister Augustine Hussey were sisters from Dublin, and in their early forties. The third foundress, Sister Agnes Barrett, from County Kilkenny, was in her late twenties, having been professed in 1870. On Sunday 30 March 1873, twelve days after the three nuns arrived in Baltinglass, Dr Kane blessed the convent primary schools on Chapel Hill, naming the senior school St Mary’s and the junior St Joseph’s. The following day classes commenced, with 101 children present. These included junior boys, but after some time Dr Kane decided to confine admission to girls only.


On 15 September, just six months after the convent opened, the first postulant entered. She was Catherine Heydon from Rathvilly parish, and she entered as a lay sister. Just over two weeks later, on 2 October, the first ‘choir postulant’, Julia Byrne from Athy, arrived. She was the first nun to be professed in Baltinglass when, as Sister de Sales, she took her vows on 8 May 1876. She was followed by Sister Joseph Comerford on 24 January 1877 and by Sister Catherine Heydon, the first postulant, on 12 August 1878. These three new sisters, along with the foundresses, formed the community of the first convent. Just over six years after the foundation, the sisters moved to their new convent, built on the high ground between Chapel Hill and the church.


DEATH OF LORD ALDBOROUGH


SUNDAY 19 DECEMBER 1875


The death of the last Earl of Aldborough was a sadly minor event as far as Baltinglass life was concerned. He had left the area many years before and the once supreme influence his family had in the town’s affairs was already consigned to history. Benjamin, Lord Aldborough died in Alicante on the Mediterranean coast of Spain on 19 December 1875, a sixty-seven year old recluse. He was the last legitimate descendant in the male line of his great-grandfather, John Stratford, the first Earl of Aldborough.


Even at the death of Benjamin, his long departed father’s hedonistic existence continued to cast a shadow over the son’s reputation. Those advertisements for Professor Holloway’s Pills were still appearing in the newspapers all those years later, and no doubt causing annoyance to the son if such information reached him in his hideaway. Whether he knew it or not, the world at large seems to have credited him with his father’s endorsement of the medicine; Mason Gerard spent the money and Benjamin’s reputation paid the price. A brief newspaper obituary (which wrongly gave his date of death as 24 December) referred to him as ‘an Irish nobleman whose name used constantly to appear in the newspapers as voucher for a patent medicine’. It went on to say that he ‘had been living a very secluded life on the Cantabrian coast for some years and from his very eccentric habits and mode of life, attracted no small attention among the Spaniards’, adding that he ‘studiously avoided his own countrymen and resented any attempt at breaking in on his voluntary retirement.’140


The destruction by fire of his house in 1858, which he believed to have been malicious, cannot account for his anti-social behaviour. Long before he left Baltinglass he had a reputation for strangeness. While living at Stratford Lodge he kept only one servant and it is said that his meals were brought each day from Dublin on the Royal Mail coach. E.P. O’Kelly stated as fact that once when an old man named Billy Nolan, living on the edge of the estate, displeased him, the Earl had stonemasons block up all doors and windows in Billy’s house, leaving him inside. He had to be rescued by his neighbours that night.141 Whether Benjamin’s abandonment in infancy, the legal doubt during his teens about the validity of his parents’ clandestine marriage, and his father’s deathbed attempt to deprive him of his inheritance had a bearing on his personality, there is no doubting that he was a misanthropic eccentric.


After the 1858 fire he stated that he would go to London and never return to Ireland. At that time his closest surviving relatives were his mother and his aunt, Lady Sophia Stratford, both of whom were living in Dublin. On the death of Lady Sophia in 1864, a cousin, Morley Dennis, commented: ‘… Benjamin alas! has proved himself devoid of natural affection, has never gone to see his aunt …’142 Living abroad, he rarely wrote to his mother. In 1871, when Baltinglass Church of Ireland parish wished to build a new church, they communicated to him their request for a site. His unadorned refusal was communicated to them by his agent, Robert H. Anderson.143


Despite the last Lord Aldborough’s undeniable lack of warmth, it would be unfair to simply portray him as an unfeeling eccentric. His knowledge of the construction of hot air balloons would appear to have been considerable. He is said to have taken out five patents for improvements to the balloon.144 Robert H. Anderson told E.P. O’Kelly that Lord Aldborough had intended to sail his balloon to England and then on to France, where he had purchased a small plot of ground by the Seine for landing the craft. He had expressed regret at not having it completed for the Crimean War, where he thought it might have been of use.145 At the time of the fire the balloon was not finished and his plans went up in flames.


Benjamin O’Neale Stratford, sixth and last Earl of Aldborough, was survived by his mother, Cornelia Jane, Countess of Aldborough. Administration of his estate of £14,000 was granted to her on 1 March 1876. She died at Mulgrave Terrace, Kingstown (now Dun Laoghaire) on 5 August 1877, seventy-three years after she eloped with the good-for-nothing Mason Gerard Stratford. There being no surviving legitimate descendants of the fourth Earl, what remained of the Aldborough estates in Baltinglass reverted to the descendants of the third Earl, John Stratford. John had left three daughters, all of whom were deceased by the 1870s. Their representatives, Catherine Dora St John, Baron Tollemache and John Stratford Best, inherited the property, including the lands of Stratford Lodge, with the ruins of Lord Aldborough’s home.


BLESSING OF THE NEW CONVENT146



WEDNESDAY 6 AUGUST 1879


Within a matter of weeks of the arrival of the Presentation Sisters in Baltinglass in 1873 an architect, a Mr Butler, was engaged to draw plans for a new convent. The site allotted for this building was part of the parish property acquired by Father Lalor, on high ground adjoining St Joseph’s church and with access from Cars’ Lane at the top of Chapel Hill. On the feast of St Joseph, 19 March 1876, the foundation stone was laid by Bishop Walshe. In May 1876 the masons’ work began but the building was not completed till 1879. In August 1879 the Sisters’ annual retreat was to take place and the Parish Priest, Dr Kane, suggested that it should be held in the new convent. The nuns selected their new cells and dusted them. While they washed out the cells, Mother Magdalen Hussey and some girls took down the beds in the old convent on the corner of Weavers’ Square and Chapel Hill and carried them across the field to the new building. Mother Magdalen carried the statue of St Joseph and placed it in the hall. Then on 6 August Dr Kane blessed the new convent and dedicated it to St Joseph. Ten years later, on 31 May 1889, the stone statue of St Joseph was placed over the hall door.


By 1883 there were six nuns in the convent and by 1901 they had grown to a community of twelve. The Sisters continued to teach the girls of the area, though the junior boys’ classes were discontinued at some point. The convent schools moved from Chapel Hill shortly after the nuns occupied their new home. On 25 August 1879 the schools opened in the new building with 180 pupils present. In 1896 classrooms were opened adjoining the convent and in July that year improvements in the convent were begun, with the two old schools being converted into an oratory. On 30 July 1911 during a violent storm the convent was struck by lightening, with the conductor torn from the tower, gutters shattered and a down pipe twisted out of shape, but there were no injuries. The Convent Annals record that in November 1914 the Sisters saw an aeroplane for the first time, and this is likely the first plane ever seen in the Baltinglass area.
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